
Utilities Committee

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers, 6th Floor5:00 PMTuesday, February 22, 2022

1. Call meeting to order

2. Roll call of membership

3. Approval of minutes from previous meeting

22-0164 Approval of the February 8, 2022 Utilities Committee Meeting Minutes.

 

February 8, 2022 Utilities Committee Meeting Minutes.pdfAttachments:

4. Public Hearings/Appearances

5. Action Items

22-0165 Approve updates to Municipal Code Chapter 20, Article VI, Stormwater 

Management Standards and Planning.

 

2022 Ordinance changes to UC combined.pdfAttachments:

22-0166 Approve 2021 Annual Stormwater Report to the Wisconsin Department of 

Natural Resources.

 

2021 MS4 Annual Report to UC_.pdfAttachments:

22-0167 Approve Sole Source Organic Recycling Contractor Services contract to 

Hsu Growing Supply for a three-year term ending December 31, 2024 in 

the amount not to exceed $247,500.

 

220209_UCM_Hsu_contract 2022-24.pdfAttachments:

22-0168 Permit transfer approval from Appvion Operations, Inc. n/k/a Appleseed 

Operations, Inc. (the Prior Owner) to Appvion, LLC (the New Owner) - 

Pretreatment Program Permit No. 21-03.

 

220214_memo action item Permit transfer Letter.pdf

Transfer of Industrial User Wastewater Discharge Permit Letter.pdf

Attachments:

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 2/17/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20715
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f9a91728-ffec-4e05-b856-9495f8e91c3e.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20716
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=9e1feceb-092a-433a-a0be-caccb09a2bcd.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20717
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=16f9ecb2-d4dd-4686-b9e6-bbd28670e5fd.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20718
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=411034a7-d761-4858-9df6-6768f692e906.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20719
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cd9ad00b-8cd4-427b-ba4c-f018a4f47864.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=aed81b17-5d9e-4dd0-8d3d-e011c16881ce.pdf


February 22, 2022Utilities Committee Meeting Agenda - Final

22-0178 Award of Unit K-22 Native Landscape Management Contract to RES, Inc., 

in an amount not to exceed $192,385.00.

 

K-22 Contract Award Util Memo 02-15-2022 Final.pdfAttachments:

22-0179 Award of Single Source Contract to NES Ecological Services for 2022 

Wetland Delineation Services in an amount not to exceed $20,137.00

 

2022C Wetland Delineations Contract Award Memo Util Cmte 02-15-2022 Final.pdfAttachments:

6. Information Items

22-0180 Follow-up to Aquahawk questions from last meeting.

 

7. Adjournment

Notice is hereby given that a quorum of the Common Council may be present during this 

meeting, although no Council action will be taken.

Reasonable Accommodations for Persons with Disabilities will be made upon Request 

and if Feasible.

For questions on the agenda, contact Chris Shaw at 920-832-5945 or Paula Vandehey at 

920-832-6474.

Page 2 City of Appleton Printed on 2/17/2022

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20729
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=1828b8b8-abfb-4b13-9024-394b27fb12df.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20730
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=072e4786-5263-4bf1-a479-d63877f0e449.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20731


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Utilities Committee

5:00 PM Council Chambers, 6th FloorTuesday, February 8, 2022

Call meeting to order1.

Chairperson Meltzer called the Utilities Committee meeting to order at 5:00 p.m.

Roll call of membership2.

Alderperson Martin joined the meeting already in progress.

Meltzer, Smith, Doran and MartinPresent: 4 - 

ThaoExcused: 1 - 

Approval of minutes from previous meeting3.

22-0037 Approval of the January 11, 2022 Utilities Committee Meeting Minutes.

January 11, 2022 Utilities Committee Meeting Minutes.pdfAttachments:

Smith moved, seconded by Doran, that the Minutes be approved. Roll Call. 

Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Meltzer, Smith and Doran3 - 

Excused: Martin and Thao2 - 

Public Hearings/Appearances4.

Action Items5.

22-0039 Request from Abby Ellenbecker for a credit adjustment for water use 

between May 29, 2021 and June 11, 2021 of $65.98 for 2518 S. Kernan 

Avenue.

Timeline for Committee.pdf

Water Leak Policy 2020.pdf

Water Usage Monitoring Procedure.pdf

Attachments:

Smith moved, seconded by Meltzer, that the Report Action Item be 

recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Meltzer, Smith and Martin3 - 

Page 1City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20588
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=4d2ad1bb-6b16-46b3-9a77-0e571bfb3536.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20590
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=98b15283-4bb0-4e0c-a4eb-e8ea7cde4b9c.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=de4da861-0034-46f7-bd0e-069be71d24c9.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=a9270ac6-863c-477d-a508-cb397b4073d5.pdf


February 8, 2022Utilities Committee Meeting Minutes - Final

Nay: Doran1 - 

Excused: Thao1 - 

22-0086 Approve Sole Source Engineering Services Contract to McMahon as 

part of 2022 AWWTP Preliminary Heat Exchanger and Blended Sludge 

Piping Replacement Project in the amount of $26,300 with a 10% 

contingency of $2,630 for a project total not to exceed $28,930.

UC Sole Source Memo_2022 AWWTP Prelim HEX and Blended 

Sludge Piping Replace_McMahon.pdf

Attachments:

Smith moved, seconded by Martin, that the Report Action Item be 

recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Meltzer, Smith, Doran and Martin4 - 

Excused: Thao1 - 

22-0110 Approve contract amendment with Arcadis to provide public outreach 

and communication materials to meet the Lead and Copper Rule 

Revisions in an amount not to exceed $22,400.

2022-02-03_Appleton LCRR_Public Outreach Materials Scope.pdfAttachments:

Smith moved, seconded by Meltzer, that the Report Action Item be 

recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Meltzer, Smith, Doran and Martin4 - 

Excused: Thao1 - 

Information Items6.

22-0111 Change Orders #1 and #2 to Sabel Mechanical contract as part of the 

2021 Secondary Clarifier Drive Removal, Rebuild, and Reinstallation 

Project totaling $12,724 resulting in a decrease in contingency from 

$26,145 to $13,421.

220128_UC Memo SecondaryClariferDrive_Sabel_Change Orders 

No1-2.pdf

Attachments:

This item was presented.

22-0087 2021 Northeast Wisconsin Stormwater Consortium 2021 Annual Report

2021 NEWSC Annual Report.pdfAttachments:

This item was presented.

Page 2City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20637
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=63582edb-d15e-4207-a4fd-278e11a3d10d.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20661
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6a79684e-d801-4173-939e-cb39cd4499d9.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20662
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bb7e5665-1d97-4ff1-98ed-cec1e2acb079.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20638
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=0dfef430-b21c-4f55-9a8c-6e391ba267c2.pdf


February 8, 2022Utilities Committee Meeting Minutes - Final

22-0088 Mapping link for private side water service material.

This item was demonstrated.

22-0041 Discussion of 2019 Water System Master Plan.

Water System Master Plan attachment (002).pdfAttachments:

This item was discussed.

22-0042 AquaDuoscope Measuring Method Program.

AquaDuoscope attachment.pdfAttachments:

This item was presented.

22-0040 WPPI Capacity Agreement Revenue Review

Revenue Summary WPPI Lease.pdfAttachments:

This item was reviewed.

22-0043 Monthly Reports for October, November, and December 2021:

- Wastewater Treatment Plant Synopsis and Receiving Station Revenue 

Report

- Water Treatment Facility Synopsis

- Water Distribution and Meter Team Monthly Report - December

2021 Q4 Wastewater Synopsis.pdf

Receiving Station Revenue Report.pdf

2021 Q4 Water Synopsis.pdf

Water Main Breaks December.pdf

Attachments:

The reports were reviewed.

Adjournment7.

Smith moved, seconded by Doran, that the Utilities Committee be adjourned at 

6:03 p.m.. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Meltzer, Smith, Doran and Martin4 - 

Excused: Thao1 - 

Page 3City of Appleton

http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20639
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20592
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=8f907b51-ac0c-4fc9-8a32-aedc47fa8d8c.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20593
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=2029d932-ccd3-4242-b472-dbd784bc9ceb.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20591
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=771acbc7-147d-41a6-a37d-c04f560818b3.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=20594
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=c4a25540-0605-4f9a-a685-49a9e645ad2f.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=e331d5bd-ce7a-4d66-8e1a-cd3224556208.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bbf275f6-fa4f-4f9f-ab89-7beffd355df7.pdf
http://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=f12a5547-5f5e-4ea5-8011-fa232e48b2f6.pdf


    
Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 

    
MEMO 

 
 
 
 
 

TO:  Utilities Committee 
 

FROM: Paula Vandehey, Director of Public Works 
  Sue Olson, Staff Engineer 
 
DATE: February 14, 2022 
 
RE: Approve updates to Municipal Code Chapter 20, Article VI, Stormwater 

Management Standards and Planning 
_______________________________________________________________________________  
 
The Department of Public Works requests approval of updates to Municipal Code Chapter 20, 
Article VI, Stormwater Management Standards and Planning.  Strike and bold language of the 
proposed updates are shown on the attached document.  The changes are being proposed in concert 
with the update to the Citywide Stormwater Management Plan and the requirements in Appendix A 
of WPDES Permit WI-S050075-03, issued May 1, 2019.   
 
Section A.5.3 of the permit includes requirements to optimize all aspects of the City’s stormwater 
management program, including various Operations activities such as street cleaning and leaf 
collection, as well as the Stormwater Management Standards ordinance. 
 
The primary updates include: 

• Clarification of appropriate curve numbers to use for peak flow control and infiltration 
calculations 

• Requiring more complete submittals in electronic format, reducing paper files 
• Adding Total Suspended Solids (TSS) and Total Phosphorus (TP) removal requirements per 

each reachshed of the Lower Fox River and Upper Fox/Wolf Rivers Total Maximum Daily 
Load (TMDL) 

 
The first two changes will not impact staff efforts to administer the ordinance or budget for 
consultant reviews.  The most significant change is the addition of Table 2 (page 12) with the 
revision to section 20-312 (c) Stormwater Quality Discharge.  The proposed section includes the 
TMDL requirements for TSS and TP removal for each reachshed of the Lower Fox River and 
Upper Fox/Wolf Rivers TMDLs.  Adding numeric standards for TP as well as TSS by reachshed 
will increase the review time for consultants, although it is not anticipated to be significant.  TSS 
and TP loads and removals are already required to be calculated and reported.   
During evaluation of the proposed change to numeric TSS and TP removal requirements, the City’s 
consultant reviewed three recent redevelopment projects that met the current ordinance to determine 
the impact of the proposed new requirements.  All three sites were able to meet the new 



requirements, with some loss of green space and/or parking spaces.  However, all three continued to 
be in compliance with the zoning code requirements for both green space and parking.  
 
Where the TSS or TP removal requirements are high, such as the 85.6% removal of TP from Bear 
Creek, the regulation is ahead of the technology.  It is anticipated that “Maximum Extent 
Practicable” will be granted to more projects until technology is available to meet these higher 
removal standards.  New technology and Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources acceptance of 
new technology is improving.    
 
Several of Appleton’s neighboring communities already include the TMDL requirements in their 
ordinances.  Table 5-1 from the upcoming citywide stormwater plan update, showing pollution 
reduction requirements and when they are required, is attached.  At this time, staff is not 
recommending changing the threshold to trigger when stormwater management is required, which is 
currently one acre of disturbed area.   



Table 5-1 Stormwater Quality Ordinance Research

Stormwater Management Plan Update

City of Appleton, WI

Municipality
TMDL Reach TSS/TP 

Reductions

NR151 (80%/40%) 

TSS Reductions

Disturbed 

Area

New 

Impervious 

Area

Appleton, City of X 1 acre

Calumet, County of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

DePere, City of 
1 X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Fox Crossing, Village of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Grand Chute, Town of X 1 acre 4,000 sf

Green Bay, City of X Tiered 1/4 acre

Harrison, Village of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Kaukauna, City of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Kimberly, Village of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Little Chute, Village of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Menasha, City of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Neenah, City of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Outagamie, County of X 1 acre 20,000 sf

Note: 
1
 -DePere has stormwater utility fee incentive if you meet TMDL reduction requirements. 

Pollution Reduction Requirements Requirements Applicability



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 1 

ARTICLE VI.  STORMWATER MANAGEMENT STANDARDS AND PLANNING 
 

DIVISON 1.  IN GENERAL 
 

Sec. 20-300.  Authority. 
 
 (a) This ordinance is adopted by the Common Council of the City of Appleton under the authority granted by 
§62.234, Wis. Stat.  This ordinance supersedes all provisions of a stormwater management ordinance previously 
enacted under §62.23, Wis. Stat., that relates to stormwater management regulations.  Except as specifically provided 
for in §62.234, Wis. Stat., §62.23, Wis. Stat. applies to this ordinance and to any amendments to this ordinance. 
 
 (b) The provisions of this ordinance are deemed not to limit any other lawful regulatory powers of the same 
governing body. 
 
 (c) The Common Council of the City of Appleton hereby designates the Director of Public Works or designee 
to administer and enforce the provisions of this ordinance. 
 
 (d) The requirements of this ordinance do not pre-empt more stringent stormwater management requirements 
that may be imposed by any of the following: 
 
  (1) WDNR administrative rules, permits or approvals including those authorized under §281.16 and 

§283.33, Wis. Stat. 
 
  (2) Targeted non-agricultural performance standards promulgated in rules by the WDNR under s. NR 151, 

Wisconsin Administrative Code. 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
Sec. 20-301.  Findings of fact. 
 
 The Common Council of the City of Appleton finds that uncontrolled post-construction runoff has a significant 
impact upon water resources and the health, safety, and general welfare of the City of Appleton and diminishes the 
public enjoyment and use of natural resources.  Specifically, uncontrolled post-construction runoff can: 
 
 (a) Degrade physical stream habitat by increasing streambank erosion, increasing streambed scour, diminishing 
groundwater recharge, diminishing stream base flows, and increasing stream temperature. 
 
 (b) Diminish the capacity of lakes and streams to support fish, aquatic life, recreational and water supply uses 
by increasing pollutant loading of sediment, suspended solids, nutrients, heavy metals, bacteria, pathogens, and other 
urban pollutants. 
 
 (c) Alter wetland communities by changing wetland hydrology and by increasing pollutant loads. 

 
 (d) Reduce the quality of groundwater by increasing pollutant loads. 
 
 (e) Threaten public health, safety, property and general welfare by overtaxing storm sewers, drainage ways, and 
other drainage facilities. 
 
 (f) Threaten public health, safety, property and general welfare by increasing major flood peaks and volumes. 
 
 (g) Undermine floodplain management efforts by increasing the incidence and levels of flooding. 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
Sec. 20-302.  Purpose and intent. 
 
 (a) Purpose.  The purpose of this ordinance is to establish long-term, post-construction runoff management 
requirements that will diminish the threats to public health, safety, welfare, and the aquatic environment. 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 2 

 
  Specific purposes are to: 
 
  (1) Further the maintenance of safe and healthful conditions. 
 
  (2) Prevent and control the adverse effects of stormwater; prevent and control soil erosion; prevent and 

control water pollution; protect spawning grounds, fish and aquatic life; manage building sites, 
placement of structures and land uses; preserve ground cover and scenic beauty; and promote sound 
economic growth. 

 
  (3) Control exceedances of the safe capacity of existing drainage facilities and receiving water bodies; 

prevent undue channel erosion; control increases in the scouring and transportation of particulate matter; 
and prevent conditions that endanger downstream property. 

 
  (4) Minimize the amount of pollutants discharged from the separate storm sewer to protect waters of the 

state. 
 
  (5) Meet applicable Federal and State requirements and regulations. 
 
 (b) Intent.  It is the general intent of the City of Appleton that this ordinance achieve its purpose through: 

 
  (1) Regulating long-term, post-construction stormwater runoff from land development and redevelopment 

activities. 
 
  (2) Controlling the quantity, peak flow rates, and quality of stormwater runoff from land development and 

redevelopment activities. 
 
  (3) Providing services to maintain and enhance the quality of life within the community.  

 
 (c) Implementation.  To this end the City of Appleton will manage post-construction stormwater runoff to 
protect, maintain and enhance the natural environment; diversity of fish and wildlife; human life; property; and 
recreational use of waterways within the city of Appleton and its extraterritorial area. 
 
  This ordinance may be applied on a site-by-site basis.  The City of Appleton recognizes, however, that the 
preferred method of achieving the stormwater performance standards set forth in this ordinance is through the 
preparation and implementation of comprehensive, systems-level stormwater management plans that cover hydrologic 
units, such as watersheds, on a municipal and regional scale.  Such plans may prescribe regional stormwater devices, 
practices or systems, any of which may be designed to treat runoff from more than one site prior to discharge to waters 
of the State of Wisconsin.  Where such plans are in conformance with the performance standards developed under 
§281.16, Wis. Stat., for regional stormwater management measures, and have been approved by the City of Appleton, 
it is the intent of this ordinance that the approved plan be used to identify post-construction management measures 
acceptable for the community. 
 
Sec. 20-303.  Title. 
 
 This ordinance shall be known as the Stormwater Management Standards and Planning Ordinance for the City of 
Appleton. 
 
Sec. 20-304.  Definitions. 
 
 The following words, terms and phrases when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them in 
this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 
 
 Adequate sod, or self sustaining vegetative cover means maintenance of sufficient vegetation types and densities 
such that the physical integrity of the streambank or lakeshore is preserved.  Self-sustaining vegetative cover includes 
grasses, forbes, sedges and duff layers of fallen leaves and woody debris. 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 3 

 
 Administering authority means a governmental employee that is designated by the City of Appleton to administer 
this ordinance.  
 
 Agricultural facilities and practices has the meaning given in §281.16(1), Wis. Stats. 
 
 Agricultural use means bee keeping; commercial feed-lots; dairying; egg production; floriculture; fish or fur 
farming; forest and game management; grazing; livestock raising; orchards; plant greenhouses and nurseries; poultry 
raising; raising of grain, grass, mint, and seed crops; raising of fruits, nuts, and berries; sod farming; placing land in 
federal programs in return for payments in kind; owning land, at least thirty-five (35) acres of which is enrolled in the 
conservation reserve program under 16 USC 3831 to 3836; participation in the mile production termination program 
under 7 USC 1446 (d); and vegetable raising  (§91.01(1), Wis. Stat.). 

 
 Atlas 14 means the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Atlas 14 Precipitation-Frequency 
Atlas of the United States, Volume 8 (Midwestern States), published in 2013. 
 
 Average annual rainfall means a typical calendar year of precipitation as determined by the Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources for users of models such as WinSLAMM or other methodology approved by the 
City.  An average annual rainfall for Green Bay, 1969 (March 29-November 25) is applicable for the City of Appleton. 
 
 Business day means a day that offices of the City of Appleton are routinely and customarily open for business. 
 
 Cease and desist order means a court issued order to halt land disturbing construction activity that is being 
conducted without the required permit or not in conformance with an existing permit. 
 
 City means the City of Appleton. 
 
 Common plan of development or sale means a development or sale where multiple separate and distinct land 
disturbing construction activities may be taking place at different times on different schedules but under one plan. A 
common plan of development or sale includes, but is not limited to, subdivision plans, certified survey maps, and 
other developments. 
 
 Concentrated flow channel means a channel produced by erosion from runoff, or by construction, that would not 
be removed by tillage operations typically needed to prepare a field for crop production. 
 
 Connected imperviousness means an impervious surface connected to the water of the state via a separate storm 
sewer, an impervious flow path, or a minimally pervious flow path.  

 
 Construction site means an area upon which one or more land disturbing construction activities occur, including 
areas that are part of a larger common plan of development or sale where multiple separate and distinct land disturbing 
construction activities may be taking place at different times on different schedules but under one plan. 
 
 Design storm means a hypothetical discrete rainstorm characterized by a specific duration, temporal distribution, 
rainfall intensity, return frequency and total depth of rainfall.  Rainfall amounts for 24-hour design rainfall events in 
Appleton are: 100-year, 5.50 inches; 10-year, 3.51 inches; 5-year, 3.01 inches; 2-year, 2.45 inches, and 1-year, 2.14 
inches.  The distribution shall be NOAA Atlas 14 MSE4. 
 
 Development means residential, commercial, industrial or institutional land uses and associated roads. 
 
 Direct conduits to groundwater means wells, sinkholes, swallets, fractured bedrock at the surface, sand or gravel 
surficial deposits, mine shafts, non-metallic mines, tile inlets discharging to groundwater, quarries, or depressional 
groundwater recharge areas over shallow fractured bedrock.  
 
 Division of land means the creation from one or more parcels or building sites of additional parcels or building 
sites where such creation occurs at one time or through the successive partition within a 5-year period.   
 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 4 

 Effective infiltration area means the area of the infiltration system devoted specifically to active infiltration, 
excluding areas required for site access, berms, pretreatment, or other area required for the installation, operation, or 
maintenance of the infiltration device. 
 
 Erosion means the process by which the land’s surface is worn away by the action of the wind, water, ice or 
gravity.  
 
 Exceptional resource waters means waters listed in s. NR 102.11, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 
 
 Existing land use condition means the condition of the development site and the adjacent properties that are 
present at the time of the stormwater permit application.  
 
 Extraterritorial means the unincorporated area as defined in Ch. 236, Wis. Stat. 
 
 Fee in lieu means a payment of money to the City of Appleton in place of meeting all or part of the stormwater 
performance standards required by this ordinance. 

 
 Filtering layer means soil that has at least a 3-foot deep layer with at least twenty percent (20%) fines; or at least 
a five- (5-) foot deep layer with at least ten percent (10%) fines; or an engineered soil with an equivalent level of 
protection as determined by the regulatory authority for the site. 
 
 Final stabilization means that all land disturbing construction activities at the construction site have been 
completed and that a uniform perennial vegetative cover has been established with a density of at least seventy percent 
(70%) of the cover for the unpaved areas and areas not covered by permanent structures or that employ equivalent 
permanent stabilization measures. 

 
 Financial guarantee means a performance bond, maintenance bond, surety bond, irrevocable letter of credit, or 
similar guarantees submitted to the City of Appleton by the responsible party to assure that requirements of the 
ordinance are carried out in compliance with the stormwater management plan. 
 
 Governing body means the Common Council of the City of Appleton. 
 
 Impervious surface means an area that releases as runoff all or a large portion of the precipitation that falls on it, 
except for frozen soil.  Rooftops, sidewalks, driveways, bike trails, multi-use trails, parking lots, and streets are 
examples of surfaces that typically are impervious.  Gravel surfaces are considered impervious unless specifically 
designed for infiltration. 
 
 In-fill means an undeveloped area of land located within an existing urban sewer service area, surrounded by 
development or development and natural or man-made features where development cannot occur. 
 
 Infiltration means the entry of precipitation or runoff into or through the soil. 
 
 Infiltration system means a device or practice such as a basin, trench, rain garden or swale designed specifically 
to encourage infiltration, but does not include natural infiltration in pervious surfaces such as lawns, redirecting of 
rooftop downspouts onto lawns, or minimal infiltration from practices, such as swales or road side channels designed 
for conveyance and pollutant removal only. 
 
 Land disturbing construction activity means any man-made alteration of the land surface resulting in a change 
in the topography or existing vegetative or non-vegetative soil cover, that may result in stormwater runoff and lead to 
increased soil erosion and movement of sediment into waters of the state.  Land disturbing construction activity 
includes clearing and grubbing, demolition, excavating, pit trench dewatering, filling and grading activities, parking 
lot reconstruction, but does not include parking lot resurfacing. 

 
 Land user means any person operating, leasing, renting, or having made other arrangements with the landowner 
by which the landowner authorizes use of his or her land. 
 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 5 

 Landowner means any person holding fee title, an easement or other interest in property, which allows the person 
to undertake cropping, livestock management, land disturbing construction activity or maintenance of stormwater 
SMPs on the property. 
 
 Major Stormwater Management Plan means a Stormwater Management Plan for a subdivision or a plan that 
proposes the use of one or more devices to meet standards or a non-one or two family site that is not considered a 
Minor Stormwater Management Plan. 
 
 Maintenance agreement means a legal document that is filed with the County Register of Deeds as a property 
deed restriction, and that provides for long-term maintenance of stormwater management practices. 
 
 Maximum extent practicable (MEP) has the meaning given it in s. NR 151.002(25), Wis. Adm. Code. 
 
 Minor Stormwater Management Plan means a Stormwater Management Plan for a site that has a regional 
stormwater facility in place that meets applicable standards, has a 100-year event conveyance system to the regional 
facility in place, and is free from unusual conditions, including but not limited to, contamination, critical site 
designation, change in land use, high impervious ratio, or floodplain. 
 
 Natural wetlands means an area where water is at, near, or above the land surface long enough to be capable of 
supporting aquatic or hydrophytic vegetation and that has soils indicative of wet conditions.  These wetlands include 
existing, mitigated, and restored wetlands. 
 
 New development means development resulting from the conversion of previously undeveloped land or 
agricultural land uses. 
 
 Non-structural measure means a practice, technique, or measure to reduce the volume, peak flow rate, or 
pollutants, in stormwater that does not require the design or installation of fixed stormwater management facilities. 
 
 NRCS means the Natural Resources Conservation Service of the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
formerly known as the SCS (Soil Conservation Service of the USDA). 
 
 NRCS MSE4 distribution means a specific precipitation distribution developed by the United States Department 
of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, using precipitation data from Atlas 14. 

 
 Off-site means lands located outside the subject property boundary described in the permit application. 
 
 On-site means lands located within the subject property boundary described in the permit application. 

 
 Ordinary high-water mark has the meaning in s. NR 115.03(6), Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

 
 Outstanding resource waters means waters listed in s. NR 102.10, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 
 
 Parking lot reconstruction means removing asphalt to the base course by milling or other construction methods.  
 
 Parking lot resurfacing means removing a portion of an asphalt surface but leaving at least one inch (1”) 
thickness of asphalt surface in place. 
 
 Peak flow or peak flow discharge rate means the maximum rate that a unit volume of stormwater is discharged.  
This is usually expressed in terms of cubic feet per second (cfs). 
 
 Percent fines means the percentage of a given sample of soil, that passes through a Number 200 sieve, in 
accordance with the “American Society for Testing and Materials”, current standard. 
 
 Performance security means cash or an irrevocable letter of credit submitted to the City of Appleton by the permit 
holder to assure that requirements of the ordinance are carried out in compliance with the stormwater management 
plan and to recover any costs incurred by the City for design, engineering, preparation, checking and review of plans 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 6 

and specifications, regulations and ordinances; and legal, administrative and fiscal work undertaken to assure and 
implement such compliance. 
 
 Performance standard means a narrative or measurable number specifying the minimum acceptable outcome for 
a facility or practice. 
 
 Permit means a written authorization made by the City of Appleton to the applicant to conduct land disturbing 
construction activity or to discharge post-construction runoff to waters of the state. 
 
 Permit application fee means a sum of money paid to the City of Appleton by the permit applicant for the purpose 
of recouping expenses incurred by the City in administering the permit. 
 
 Pervious surface means an area that releases as runoff a small portion of the precipitation that falls on it.  Lawns, 
gardens, parks, forests, or other similar vegetated areas are examples of surfaces that typically are pervious. 

 
 Pollutant means any dredged spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage, refuse, oil, sewage sludge, 
munitions, chemical wastes, biological materials, radioactive substance, heat, wrecked or discarded equipment, rock, 
sand, cellar dirt and industrial, municipal and agricultural waste discharged into water as described in §283.01(13), 
Wis. Stat. 

 
 Pollution has the meaning in §281.01(10), Wis. Stat. 
 
 Post-construction site means a construction site following the completion of land disturbing construction activity 
and final site stabilization. 
 
 Post-development land use condition means the extent and distribution of land cover types, anticipated to occur 
under conditions of full development or redevelopment that will influence runoff and infiltration. 
 
 Pre-development condition means the extent and distribution of land cover types present before the initiation of 
land disturbing construction activity, assuming that all land uses prior to development activity are managed in an 
environmentally sound manner. 
 
 Pre-treatment is the practice of reducing pollutants in stormwater before discharging the stormwater to another 
pollution control structure. 
 
 Preventive action limit has the meaning in s. NR 140.05(17), Wisconsin Administrative Code. 
 
 Protective area means an area of land that commences at the top of the channel of lakes, streams and rivers, or at 
the delineated boundary of wetlands, and that it is the greatest of the widths as listed in Sec. 20-312(g) of this code, 
as measured horizontally from the top of the channel or delineated wetland boundary to the closest impervious surface.  
 
 Redevelopment means areas where development is replacing older development. 
 
 Residential land development means development that is created to house people, including the residential 
dwellings as well as all affected portions of the development including lawns, driveways, sidewalks, garages, and 
access streets.  This type of development includes single-family, multi-family, apartment and trailer parks.  
 
 Responsible party means any person holding fee title to the property or other entity contracted or obligated by 
other agreement to implement and maintain post-construction stormwater SMPs, or other requirements of this 
ordinance. 

 
 Runoff means stormwater or precipitation including rain, snow, or ice melt or similar water that moves on the 
land surface via sheet or channelized flow. 
 
 Runoff Curve Number or RCNs means an index that represents the combination of: a hydrologic soil group, land 
use, land cover, impervious area, interception storage, surface storage, and antecedent moisture conditions.  RCNs 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 7 

convert mass rainfall into mass runoff.  The Natural Resources Conservation Service of the USDA defines RCNs in 
TR-55.  

 
 Sediment means settleable solid material that is transported by runoff, suspended within runoff or deposited by 
runoff away from its origination location.  
 
 Separate storm sewer means a conveyance or system of conveyances including roads with drainage systems, 
streets, catch basins, curbs, gutters, ditches, constructed channels, or storm drains, which meets all of the following 
criteria: 
 
  (a) Is designed or used for collecting water or conveying runoff. 
 
  (b) Is not part of a combined sewer system. 
  
  (c) Is not part of a publicly owned wastewater treatment works that provides secondary or more stringent 

treatment. 
 
  (d) Discharges directly or indirectly to waters of the state. 
 
 Silviculture activity means activities including tree nursery operations, tree harvesting operations, reforestation, 
tree thinning, prescribed burning, and pest and fire control.  Clearing and grubbing of an area of a construction site is 
not a silviculture activity. 
 
 Site means the entire area included in the legal description of the land on which the land disturbing construction 
activity is proposed in the permit application or has occurred. 
 
 Stop work order means an order issued by the City of Appleton that requires all construction activity on the site 
be stopped. 
 
 Stormwater conveyance system means any method employed to carry stormwater runoff within and from a land 
development or redevelopment activity to the waters of the state.  Examples of methods include: swales, channels, 
and storm sewers. 
 
 Stormwater management measure means structural or non-structural practices that are designed to reduce 
stormwater runoff pollutant loads, discharge volumes and/or peak flow discharge rates. 
 
 Stormwater management plan means a comprehensive plan provided by the land developer, land owner or permit 
holder that identifies the measure to be taken to reduce the discharge of pollutants from stormwater, and control the 
peak flow and volume of runoff after the site has undergone final stabilization, following completion of construction 
activity. 

 
 Stormwater Management Practice or SMP means structural or non-structural measures, practices, techniques, 
or devices employed to avoid or minimize soil, sediment or pollutants carried in runoff to waters of the state. 
 
 Stormwater management system plan is a comprehensive plan, including SMPs, designed to reduce the discharge 
of runoff and pollutants from hydrologic units on a regional or municipal scale. 
 
 Targeted performance standard means a performance standard that applies in a specific area that requires 
additional practices to meet water quality standards.  
 
 Technical standard means a document that specifies design, predicted performance, and operation and 
maintenance specifications for a material, device, or method. 
 
 Top of the channel means an edge or point on the landscape landward from the ordinary high water mark of a 
surface water of the state, where the slope of the land begins to be less than twelve percent (12%) continually for at 
least fifty (50) feet.  If the slope of the land is 12 percent (12%) or less continually for the initial fifty (50) feet landward 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 8 

from the ordinary high water mark, the top of the channel is the ordinary high water mark. 
 
 Total maximum daily load or TMDL means the amount of pollutants specified as a function of one or more water 
quality parameters, that can be discharged per day into a water quality limited segment and still ensure attainment of 
the applicable water quality standard. 
 
 TP means total phosphorus. 
 
 TP-40 means Technical Paper No. 40, Rainfall Frequency Atlas of the United States, published in 1961. 
 
 TR-55 means the United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Services (previously 
Soil Conservation Service), Urban Hydrology for Small Watersheds, Second Edition, Technical Release 55, June 
1986, which is incorporated by reference for this chapter. 
 
 Transportation facility means a highway, a railroad, a public mass transit facility, a public-use airport, a public 
trail, and also includes any other public work for transportation purposes such as harbor improvements under 
§85.095(1)(b), Wis. Stat.  “Transportation Facility” does not include building sites for the construction of public 
buildings and buildings that are places of employment that are regulated by the Department pursuant to §281.33, Wis. 
Stat. 

 
 TSS means total suspended solids. 
 
 Type II distribution means a rainfall type curve as established in the “United States Department of Agriculture, 
Soil Conservation Service, Technical Paper 149, published 1973”.   

 
 Waters of the state has the meaning in §283.01(20), Wis. Stat. 
 
 WDNR means the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 
 
 WPDES permit means a Wisconsin Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit issued pursuant to Ch. 283, 
Wis. Stat. 
 
 Wetland functional value means the type, quality, and significance of the ecological and cultural benefits 
provided by wetland resources, such as: flood storage, water quality protection, groundwater recharge and discharge, 
shoreline protection, fish and wildlife habitat, floral diversity, aesthetics, recreation and education.  
 
 Natural wWetlands means an area where water is at, near, or above the land surface long enough to be capable 
of supporting aquatic or hydrophytic vegetation and that has soils indicative of wet conditions.  These wetlands include 
existing, mitigated, and restored wetlands. 
 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 156-11, §1, 1-1-12; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-
1-20) 
 
Secs. 20-305 – 20-310.  Reserved. 
 
 
 

DIVISION 2.  STORMWATER MANAGEMENT 
 
Sec. 20-311.  Applicability and jurisdiction. 
 
 (a) Applicability.  This ordinance applies to all post-construction land development, redevelopment, and in-
filling sites with one (1) acre or more of land disturbing construction activities, except: 
 
  (1) A post-construction site with less than ten percent (10%) connected imperviousness of the total area 

based on area of land disturbance, provided the cumulative area of all parking lots, roads, and rooftops 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 9 

is less than one (1) acre.  However, the exemption of this paragraph does not include exemption from 
the protective area standards of this ordinance. 

 
  (2) Agricultural facilities and practices. 
 
  (3) Nonpoint discharges from silviculture activities. 
 
  (4) Underground utility construction such as water, sewer, and fiberoptic lines.  This exemption does not 

apply to the construction of any above ground structures associated with utility construction. 
 
  Notwithstanding these applicability requirements, this ordinance applies to any post-construction site of any 
size that, in the opinion of the City of Appleton, is likely to result in runoff that exceeds the safe capacity of the existing 
drainage facilities or receiving body of water, that causes undue channel erosion, that increases water pollution by 
scouring or the transportation of particulate matter or other pollutants, or that endangers property or public safety. 
 
 (b) Jurisdiction.  This ordinance applies to post-construction land development and redevelopment sites within 
the boundaries of the City of Appleton and to all lands located within three (3) miles of the corporate limits pursuant 
to the City’s extraterritorial plat approval jurisdiction as set forth in §236.45(2), Wis. Stat., even if plat approval is not 
involved. 
 
 (c) County and town ordinances.  This ordinance supersedes any county or town stormwater management 
ordinance for lands annexed to the City after the effective date of the county or town ordinance, except when the 
county or town ordinance is more restrictive than this ordinance; then the more restrictive provisions set forth in the 
county or town ordinance shall become part of this ordinance and apply to the annexed lands.  In such cases, the City 
may grant a variance from the more restrictive requirements, provided that the criteria for a variance as set forth in the 
county or town ordinance is met. 
 
 (d) State agency.  This ordinance is not applicable to activities conducted by a state agency, as defined under 
§227.01(1), Wis. Stat., and the office of the district attorney, which is subject to the state plan promulgated or a 
memorandum of understanding entered into under §281.33(2), Wis. Stat. 
 
 (e) Waivers.  Requests to waive the stormwater management plan requirements shall be submitted to the City of 
Appleton for approval.  Written waivers may be granted administratively by the City for stormwater requirements that 
are required only by the City if it is demonstrated to the satisfaction of the City that it is reasonable to expect that the 
objectives of this ordinance will be met by the proposed post-construction land development and redevelopment 
activity without a stormwater management plan or portion thereof. 
  
 (f) Applicability of maximum extent practicable.  Maximum extent practicable applies when a person who is 
subject to a performance standard of this ordinance demonstrates to the City’s satisfaction that a performance standard 
is not achievable and that a lower level of performance is appropriate.  In making the assertion that a performance 
standard is not achievable and that a level of performance different from the performance standard is the maximum 
extent practicable, the responsible party shall take into account the best available technology, cost effectiveness, 
geographic features, and other competing interests such as protection of public safety and welfare, protection of 
endangered and threatened resources, and preservation of historic properties. 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 

 
Sec. 20-312.  Performance standards. 
 
 Unless otherwise provided for in this ordinance, all post-construction land development, redevelopment, and in-
filling activities subject to this ordinance shall establish on-site management practices to control the peak flow rates 
of stormwater discharged from the site, the quality of the discharged stormwater, and the volume of the discharged 
stormwater as described in this ordinance.  Technical standards identified, developed, or disseminated by the WDNR 
under subchapter V of Chapter NR 151, Wisconsin Administrative Code, shall be used.  Where technical standards 
have not been identified or developed by the WDNR, other technical standards may be used provided that the methods 
have been approved by the City of Appleton.  The responsible party shall implement a post-construction stormwater 
management plan that incorporates the requirements of this section. 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 10 

 
 Exceptions to these standards are listed in Sec. 20-312(l) of this ordinance. 
 
 (a) Maintenance of effort.  For redevelopment sites where the redevelopment will be replacing older 
development that was subject to post-construction performance standards of NR 151 in effect on or after October 1, 
2004, the responsible party shall meet the total suspended solids reduction, total phosphorus reduction, peak flow 
control, infiltration, and protective areas standards applicable to the older development or meet the redevelopment 
standards of this ordinance, whichever is more stringent. 
 
  For non-highway transportation facility redevelopment sites and highway reconstruction where the 
redevelopment or reconstruction will be replacing older development or highway that was subject to post-construction 
performance standards of this chapter in effect on or after October 1, 2004, the responsible party shall meet the total 
suspended solids reduction, total phosphorus reduction, peak flow control, infiltration, and protective areas standards 
applicable to the older development or highway, or meet the redevelopment or highway reconstruction standards of 
(d) – (m) of this section, whichever are more stringent. 
 
 (b) Off-site drainage.  When designing stormwater management practices for (d), (e), and (f) of this section, 
runoff draining to the stormwater management practices from off-site shall be taken into account in determining the 
treatment efficiency of the practice.  Any impact on the efficiency shall be compensated for by increasing the size of 
the SMP accordingly. 
 
 (c) Separation distances.  Stormwater management practices shall be adequately separated from wells to prevent 
contamination of drinking water, and the following minimum separation distances shall be met: 
 
  (1) Stormwater infiltration systems and ponds shall be located at least 400 feet from a well serving a 

community water system unless the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources concurs that a lesser 
separation distance would provide adequate protection of a well from contamination. 

 
  (2) Stormwater management practices shall be located with a minimum separation distance from any well 

serving a non-community or private water system as follows: 
 
   i. 25 feet to the edge of a stormwater detention pond or basin. 
 
   ii. 100 feet for a stormwater infiltration basin or system. 
 
   iii. 8 feet to a stormwater culvert or edge of a ditch that is not a river or stream. 
(Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (d) Peak discharge  
 
  (1) The proposed post-construction land use shall not increase peak flow rates of stormwater runoff from 
that which would have resulted from the same design storm occurring over the site with the land in its pre-development 
condition.  Unless the site is currently woodland, pre-development peak flow rates shall be based on the grassland 
condition, as defined in Table 1.  If the existing site contains a combination of woodland and grassland, a runoff curve 
number shall be weighted based on land cover using the curve numbers in Table 1.  Peak flow rates shall be determined 
for storms of twenty-four (24) hour duration and recurrence intervals of one (1), two (2), five (5), ten (10), and one 
hundred (100) years.  For proposed conditions, appropriate curve numbers, as described in TR-55 and weighted based 
on the proposed land cover, shall be used in TR-55 calculations.  The composite RCNs as defined in TR-55 should 
not be used., woodland condition, as defined in Table 1 of this ordinance for storms of twenty-four (24) hour duration 
and recurrence intervals of one (1), two (2), five (5), ten (10), and one hundred (100) years. Appropriate curve 
numbers, as described in TR-55 and weighted based on the proposed land cover, shall be used in TR-55 calculations.  
The composite RCNs as defined in TR-55 should not be used. 
 

Table 1 
Maximum Pre-Development Runoff Curve Numbers 

 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 11 

Runoff Curve 
Number 

 
Hydrologic Soil Group

 A B C D
Woodland 30 55 70 77
Grassland 39 61 71 78
Cropland 55 69 78 83

 
Where the pre-development condition is a combination of the Table 1 land uses, the runoff curve number shall be 
weighted based on area of land cover. 
 
  (2) All stormwater conveyance systems within the post-construction site shall be designed to completely 

contain the peak storm flows as described herein.  Calculations for determining peak flows for 
conveyance system sizing shall use RCNs based on the existing or future proposed land use for off-site 
areas (whichever results in the highest peak flows), and the proposed land use for on-site areas.   

 
   a. For open channel conveyance systems the peak flow from the 100-year, 24-hour storm shall be 

completely contained within the channel bottom and banks. 
 
   b. For storm sewer conveyance systems the peak flow from the 5-year storm shall be completely 

contained within the storm sewers with no surcharging.  The peak flow for the 10-year storm shall 
not surcharge above the permanent pavement surface at the gutter. 

 
   c. For storms greater than the five- (5-) year event, and up to the 100-year, 24-hour event, conveyance 

of flow to the appropriate waters of the state shall be within existing or proposed street right-of-
ways or recorded drainage easements.  In no case shall the depth of water exceed twelve (12) inches 
at the outer edge of pavement or six (6) inches at the road crown, whichever is less. 

 
   d. The 100-year storm runoff flow path outside of the storm sewer conveyance system must not impact 

structural improvements on property.  
 
   e. Existing flow onto the site cannot be restricted or modified to impact adjacent properties without a 

written agreement between property owners. 
 
  (3) Determination of peak flow rates and volume of runoff for purposes of meeting the requirements of Sec. 

20-312(d)(1) of this ordinance shall be computed by procedures based on the principals and procedures 
described in TR-55. Other proposed calculation methods must have prior written approval of the City of 
Appleton. 

 
  (4) The rainfall distributions for the storm events shall be NOAA Atlas 14 MSE4, unless otherwise approved 

by the City of Appleton.  On a case-by-case basis, the City of Appleton may allow the use of TP-40 
precipitation depths and the Type II distribution. 

 
  (5) Existing wetlands shall not be incorporated in the proposed stormwater management practice for peak 

flow control.  Peak flow shall be managed prior to discharge to an existing wetland.  Should any changes 
to natural wetlands be proposed, the impact of the proposal on wetland functional values shall be 
assessed and significant changes to wetland functional values shall be avoided (as defined by s. NR 103, 
Wisconsin Administrative Code). 

 
  (65) Peak stormwater discharge reductions do not apply for a site meeting any one of these requirements: 
 
   a. Redevelopment post-construction sites less than five (5) acres in size. 
 
  b. In-fill development areas less than five (5) acres in size. 
 
  c. Sites that directly discharge to the Fox River without flowing over or through a municipally owned 

separate storm sewer or stormwater conveyance system. 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 12 

 
   d. A transportation facility that is part of a redevelopment project. 
 
   e. A highway reconstruction site. 
(Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (e) Stormwater discharge quality.  Unless otherwise provided for in this ordinance, all post-construction land 
development, and redevelopment and infill activities subject to this ordinance shall establish on-site management 
practices to control the quality of stormwater discharged from the post-construction site.  The design shall be based 
on the average rainfall, as compared to no runoff management controls.  Total Suspended Solids (TSS) and Total 
Phosphorus (TP) load reduction is required in accordance with Table 2.  On-site management practices shall be used 
to meet the following minimum standards: 
 

Table 2. 
Total Suspended Solids (TSS) and Total Phosphorus (TP) Loan Reduction Requirements 

 
 

Watershed 
New Development, Redevelopment 5 

acres or larger and Infill
Redevelopment less than 5 acres and 

Transportation Facility Redevelopment
 TSS TP TSS TP 

Apple Creek 80.0% 40.5% 52.0% 40.5% 
Duck Creek 80.0% 40.5% 52.0% 40.5% 
Mud Creek 80.0% 48.2% 42.8% 48.2% 

Garners Creek 80.0% 68.6% 59.9% 68.6% 
Fox River 80.0% 40.5% 72.2% 40.5% 
Bear Creek 84.0% 85.6% 84.0% 85.6% 

Lake Winnebago 80.0% 85.6% 40.0% 85.6% 
 

  (1) All new development, redevelopment, and infill sites shall calculate TSS and TP loads without and with 
the proposed on-site stormwater management measures using an appropriate computer model.  Both the 
loads and the amounts of removal shall be reported in the plan narrative and included in the computer 
model submitted for the project. 

 
  (2) Effectiveness of the stormwater management measures shall be evaluated using the latest version of the 

Source Loading and Management Model for Windows (WinSLAMM).  Other models may be used with 
prior written approval of the City. 

 
  (1) Total suspended solids (TSS).  SMPs shall be designed, installed and maintained to control total 

suspended solids carried in runoff from the post-construction site as follows: 
 
   a. For new development and new transportation facilities, by design, reduce to the maximum extent 

practicable, the total suspended solids load by eighty percent (80%), based on the average annual 
rainfall, as compared to no runoff management controls. 

 
   b. For redevelopment less than five (5) acres of disturbed land and highway reconstruction, by design, 

reduce to the maximum extent practicable, the total suspended solids load by forty percent (40%), 
based upon the average annual rainfall, as compared to no runoff management controls. 

 
   c. For redevelopment five (5) acres or greater of disturbed land, reduce to the maximum extent 

practicable, the total suspended solids load by eighty percent (80%), based on the average annual 
rainfall, as compared to no runoff management controls. 

 
    d. For in-fill development by design, reduce to the maximum extent practicable, the total suspended 

solids load by eighty percent (80%), based on the average annual rainfall, as compared to no runoff 
management controls. 

 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 13 

   e. For non-highway transportation facility redevelopment, by design, reduce to the maximum extent 
practicable, the total suspended solids load by 40% based on average annual rainfall as compared to 
no runoff management controls. 

 
  (2) Total phosphorus (TP).  All new development, redevelopment, and infill sites shall calculate the total 

phosphorus load and the amount of phosphorus removed with the proposed on-site practices with an 
appropriate computer model.  Both the load and the amount of removal shall be reported in the plan 
narrative and included in the computer model submitted for the project. 

 
 
 
  (3) Effectiveness of the stormwater management measures shall be evaluated using the latest version of the 

Source Loading and Management Model (WinSLAMM).  Other models may be used with prior written 
approval of the City.  

(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 

 (f) Infiltration.  Unless otherwise provided for in this ordinance, all post-construction land development and 
redevelopment sites subject to this ordinance shall design, install, and maintain on-site stormwater management 
practices to infiltrate runoff in accordance with the following, to the maximum extent practicable. 
 
  (1) Low imperviousness.  For development up to 40 percent (40%) connected imperviousness, such as parks, 

cemeteries, and low density residential development, infiltrate sufficient runoff volume so that the post-
development infiltration volume shall be at least 90 percent (90%) of the pre-development infiltration 
volume, based on an average annual rainfall.  However, when designing appropriate infiltration systems 
to meet this requirement, no more than one percent (1%) of the post-construction site is required as an 
effective infiltration area. 

 
  (2) Moderate imperviousness.  For development with more than forty percent (40%) and up to eighty percent 

(80%) connected imperviousness, such as medium and high density residential, multi-family 
development, industrial and institutional development, and office parks, infiltrate sufficient runoff 
volume so that the post-development infiltration volume shall be at least seventy-five percent (75%) of 
the pre-development infiltration volume, based on an average annual rainfall.  However, when designing 
appropriate infiltration systems to meet this requirement, no more than two percent (2%) of the post-
construction site is required as an effective infiltration area. 

 
  (3) High imperviousness.  For development with more than eighty percent (80%) connected imperviousness, 

such as commercial strip malls, shopping centers, and commercial downtowns, infiltrate sufficient runoff 
volume so that the post-development infiltration volume shall be at least sixty percent (60%) of the pre-
development infiltration volume, based on an average annual rainfall.  However, when designing 
appropriate infiltration systems to meet this requirement, no more than two percent (2%) of the post-
construction site is required as an effective infiltration area. 

 
  (4) Pre-development.  The pre-development condition shall be as specified in Table 13. 
 

Table 3 
 

Runoff Curve 
Number 

 
Hydrologic Soil Group

 A B C D
Woodland 30 55 70 77
Grassland 39 61 71 78
Cropland 55 69 78 83

 
 
  (5) A model that calculates runoff volume, such as WinSLAMM or other methodology approved by the City 

shall be used.  Other models may be used with prior written approval of the City. 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 14 

 
  (6) Before infiltrating runoff, pretreatment shall be required for parking lot runoff and for runoff from new 

road construction in commercial, industrial, and institutional areas that will enter an infiltration system.  
The pretreatment shall be designed to protect the infiltration system from clogging prior to scheduled 
maintenance in accordance with Sec. 20-314 of this ordinance. 
 

Pretreatment may include, but is not limited to, oil/grease separation, sedimentation, biofiltration, 
filtration, treatment swales or filter strips.  It is desirable to infiltrate the cleanest runoff to meet the 
infiltration standard. To achieve this, the design may propose greater infiltration of runoff from some 
sources such as roofs, and lesser from dirtier sources such as parking lots.  

  
  (7) For the purpose of this section, turf grass swales are not counted towards the one percent (1%) or two 

percent (2%) infiltration areas described in subsections (1) and (2). 
 
  (8) Source areas. 
 
   a. Prohibitions. Runoff from the following areas may not be infiltrated and may not qualify as 

contributing to meeting the requirements of this section unless demonstrated to meet the conditions 
identified in Sec. 20-312(f)(11): 

 
   i. Areas associated with a tier 1 industrial facility identified in s. NR 216.21(2)(a), Wisconsin 

Administrative Code, including storage, loading and parking.  Rooftops may be infiltrated with 
the concurrence of the regulatory authority. 

 
   ii. Storage and loading areas of a tier 2 industrial facility identified in s. NR216.21(2)(b), 

Wisconsin Administrative Code. 
 
    NOTE TO USERS:   Runoff from the employee and guest parking and rooftop areas of a tier 2 

facility may be infiltrated but runoff from the parking area may require pretreatment. 
 
   iii. Fueling and vehicle maintenance areas.  Runoff from rooftops and fueling and vehicle 

maintenance areas may be infiltrated with the concurrence of the regulatory authority. 
 
   b. Exemptions.  Runoff from the following areas may be credited toward meeting the requirement 

when infiltrated, but the decision to infiltrate runoff from these source areas is optional: 
 

    i. Parking areas and access roads less than 5,000 square feet for commercial development. 
 
    ii. Parking areas and access roads less than 5,000 square feet for industrial development not subject 

to the prohibitions under par a. 
 
    iii. Redevelopment post-construction sites, except as provided under Sec. 20-312(a), Maintenance 

of effort. 
 

    iv. In-fill development areas less than five (5) acres. 
 
    v. Roads on commercial, industrial and institutional land uses, and arterial residential roads. 
 
    vi. Transportation facility highway reconstruction and new highways. 
 
  (9) Location of practices. 
 
   a. Groundwater limitations.  When permanent infiltration systems are used, appropriate on-site testing 

shall be conducted to determine if seasonal high groundwater elevation or top of bedrock is within 
five (5) feet of the bottom of the proposed infiltration system.  

 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 15 

   b. Prohibitions.  Infiltration practices may not be located in the following areas: 
 
    i. Areas within 1,000 feet upgradient or within 100 feet downgradient of direct conduits to 

groundwater. 
 
    ii. Areas within 400 feet of a community water system well as specified in s. NR 811.16(4), 

Wisconsin Administrative Code or within the separation distances listed in s. NR 812.08, 
Wisconsin Administrative Code for any private well or non-community well for runoff 
infiltrated from commercial, including multi-family residential, industrial and institutional land 
uses, or regional devices for one- and two-family residential development. 

 
    iii. Areas where contaminants of concern, as defined in s. NR 720.03 (2), Wisconsin 

Administrative Code, are present in the soil through which infiltration will occur. 
 
   c. Separation distances.  
 
    i. Infiltration practices shall be located so that the characteristics of the soil and the separation 

distance between the bottom of the infiltration system and the elevation of seasonal high 
groundwater or the top of bedrock are in accordance with Table 24. 

 
Table 24 

Separation Distances and Soil Characteristics 
 

 
Source Area 

Separation 
Distance 

Soil 
Characteristics

Industrial, 
Commercial, 
Institutional 
Parking Lots and 
Roads 

5 feet or more Filtering layer 

Residential 
Arterial Roads 

5 feet or more Filtering layer 

Roofs Draining to 
Subsurface 
Infiltration 
Practices 

1 foot or more Native or 
Engineered soil 
with particles finer 
than coarse sand

Roofs Draining to 
Surface 
Infiltration 
Practices 

Not 
applicable 

Not applicable 

All Other 
Impervious Source 
Areas 

3 feet or more Filtering Layer 

 
 

    ii. Notwithstanding par. b., applicable requirements for injection wells classified under ch. NR 
815, Wisconsin Administrative Code shall be followed. 

 
   d. Infiltration rate exemptions.  Infiltration practices located in the following areas may be credited 

toward meeting the requirements under the following conditions, but the decision to infiltrate under 
these conditions is at the Developer’s option: 

 
    i. Where the infiltration rate of the soil measured at the proposed bottom of the infiltration system 

is less than 0.6 inches per hour using a scientifically credible field test method. 
 
    ii. Where the least permeable soil horizon to five (5) feet below the proposed bottom of the 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 16 

infiltration system using the U.S. Department of Agriculture method of soils analysis is one of 
the following:  sandy clay loam, clay loam, silty clay loam, sandy clay, silty clay, or clay. 

 
  (10) Alternate use.  Where alternate uses of runoff are employed, such as for toilet flushing, laundry, or 

irrigation or storage on green roofs where an equivalent portion of the runoff is captured permanently by 
rooftop vegetation, such alternate use shall be given equal credit toward the infiltration volume required 
by this section. 

 
  (11) Groundwater standards. 
 
   a. Infiltration systems designed in accordance with this section shall, to the extent technically and 

economically feasible, minimize the level of pollutants infiltrating to groundwater and shall 
maintain compliance with the preventive action limit at a point of standards application in 
accordance with s. NR 140, Wisconsin Administrative Code.  However, if site-specific information 
indicates that compliance with a preventive action limit is not achievable, the infiltration SMP shall 
not be installed or shall be modified to prevent infiltration to the maximum extent practicable.  

 
   b. Notwithstanding paragraph (a), the discharge from SMPs shall remain below the enforcement 

standard at the point of standards application. 
(Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (g) Protective areas.   Protective area means an area of land that commences at the top of the channel of lakes, 
streams and rivers, or at the delineated boundary of wetlands, and that is the greatest of the widths described below, 
as measured horizontally from the top of the channel or delineated wetland boundary to the closest impervious surface.  
However, in this section, protective area does not include any area of land adjacent to any stream enclosed within a 
pipe or culvert, such that runoff cannot enter the enclosure at this location. 
 
  (1) Protective areas are: 
 
   a. For outstanding resource waters and exceptional resource waters, seventy-five (75) feet. 
 
   b. For perennial and intermittent streams identified on a United States geological survey 7.5-minute 

series topographic map, or a county soil survey map, whichever is more current, fifty (50) feet. 
 
   c. For lakes, 50 feet. 
 
   d. For wetlands not subject to par. e. or f., 50 feet. 
 
   e. For highly susceptible wetlands, 75 feet. Highly susceptible wetlands include the following types:  

calcareous fens, sedge meadows, open and coniferous bogs, low prairies, coniferous swamps, 
lowland hardwood swamps, and ephemeral ponds. 

 
   f. For less susceptible wetlands, ten percent (10%) of the average wetland width, but no less than ten 

(10) feet nor more than thirty (30) feet.  Less susceptible wetlands include: degraded wetland 
dominated by invasive species such as reed canary grass; cultivated hydric soils, and any gravel pits, 
or dredged material or fill material disposal sites that take on the attributes of a wetland. 

 
   g. In pars. d. to f., determinations of the extent of the protective area adjacent to wetlands shall be made 

on the basis of the sensitivity and runoff susceptibility of the wetland in accordance with the 
standards and criteria in s. NR 103.03, Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

 
   h. Wetland boundary delineation shall be made in accordance with s. NR 103.08(1m), Wisconsin 

Administrative Code.  This paragraph does not apply to wetlands that have been completely filled 
in compliance with all applicable state and federal regulations.  The protective area for wetlands that 
have been partially filled in compliance with all applicable state and federal regulations shall be 
measured from the wetland boundary delineation after fill has been placed.  Where there is a legally 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 17 

authorized wetland fill, the protective area standard need not be met in that location. 
 
   i. For concentrated flow channels with drainage areas greater than 130 acres, 10 feet. 
 
   j. Notwithstanding pars. a. to i., the greatest protective area width shall apply where rivers, streams, 

lakes, and wetlands are contiguous. 
 
  (2) This section applies to post-construction sites located within a protective area, except those areas 

exempted pursuant to sub. 5. 
 
  (3) The following requirements shall be met: 
 
   a. Impervious surfaces shall be kept out of the protective area entirely or to the maximum extent 

practicable.  The stormwater management plan shall contain a written site-specific explanation for 
any parts of the protective area that are disturbed during construction. 

 
   b. Where land disturbing construction activity occurs within a protective area, and where no 

impervious surface is present, adequate sod or self-sustaining native vegetative cover of seventy 
percent (70%) or greater shall be established and maintained.  The self-sustaining vegetative cover 
shall be sufficient to provide for bank stability, maintenance of fish habitat and filtering of pollutants 
from upslope overland flow areas under sheet flow conditions.  Non-vegetative materials, such as 
rock riprap, may be employed on the bank as necessary to prevent erosion, such as on steep slopes 
or where high velocity flows occur.  

 
   c. Stormwater management practices such as filter strips, treatment swales, or wet detention basins, 

that are designed to control pollutants from nonpoint sources may be located in the protective area.  
 
  (4) A protective area established or created after the adoption date of this ordinance shall not be eliminated 

or reduced, except as allowed in subd. (5)b., c., or d below. 
 
  (5) Protective areas do not apply to: 
 
   a. Redevelopment post-construction sites, including non-highway transportation redevelopment sites, 

provided the minimum requirements within subd. (4) above are satisfied. 
 
   b. Structures that cross or access surface waters such as boat landings, bridges and culverts. 
 
   c. Structures constructed in accordance with §59.692(1v), Wis. Stat. 
 
   d. Post-construction sites, including transportation facilities, from which runoff does not enter the 

surface water, including wetlands, without first being treated by a SMP, except to the extent that 
vegetative ground cover is necessary to maintain bank stability. 

 
   e. Infill development less than five (5) acres. 
(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (h) Fueling and vehicle maintenance areas. Fueling and vehicle maintenance areas shall, to the maximum 
extent practicable, have SMPs designed, installed, and maintained to reduce petroleum within runoff, such that the 
runoff that enters waters of the state contains no visible petroleum sheen.  A combination of the following SMPs may 
be used: oil and grease separators, canopies, petroleum spill cleanup materials, or any other structural or non-structural 
method of preventing or treating petroleum in runoff. 

 
  (1) This ordinance applies to: 
 
   a. New fueling and vehicle maintenance areas approved after the effective date of this ordinance. 
 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 18 

   b. Any modifications to existing fueling and vehicle maintenance areas regardless of the size of the 
disturbed area.  SMPs installed as part of a site modification shall, to the maximum extent 
practicable, be designed and operated to treat all stormwater leaving the site so that the stormwater 
contains no visible petroleum sheen. 

 
   c. Transportation and non-highway transportation sites. 
 
  (2) A stormwater management plan per Sec. 20-313 of this ordinance, a maintenance agreement per Sec. 

20-314 of this ordinance and a stormwater permit per Sec. 20-321 of this ordinance are required. 
(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (i) General considerations for stormwater management measures. The following considerations shall be 
observed in on-site and off-site runoff management. 
 
  (1) Natural topography and land cover features such as natural swales, natural depressions, native soil 

infiltrating capacity and natural groundwater recharge areas shall be preserved and used, to the extent 
possible, to meet the requirements of this section. 

 
  (2) Overland flow for all stormwater facilities shall be provided to prevent exceeding the safe capacity of 

downstream drainage facilities and prevent endangerment of downstream property or public safety. 
 
  (3) Overland flow paths from adjoining properties to an offsite facility must be maintained. 
 
  (4) Low impact development techniques and green infrastructure should be included to the extent possible.  

These techniques include but are not limited to: increasing the time of concentration by lengthening the 
flow path and increasing the roughness of the flow path, using native, deep rooted vegetation instead of 
turf grasses and deep tilling onsite compacted soil. 

(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (j) Location and regional treatment option. 
 
  (1) The SMPs may be located on-site or off-site as part of a regional stormwater device, practice or system, 

but shall be installed in accordance with s. NR 151.003 Wisconsin Administrative Code. 
 
  (2) Post-construction runoff within a non-navigable surface water that flows into a SMP, such as a wet 

detention pond, is not required to meet the performance standards of this ordinance.  Post-construction 
SMPs may be located in non-navigable surface waters. 

 
  (3) Post-construction runoff shall meet the post-construction performance standards prior to entering 

navigable surface water. 
 
   a. To the maximum extent practicable, SMPs shall be located to treat runoff prior to discharge to 

navigable surface waters. 
  
   b. Post-construction SMPs for such runoff may be located in a navigable surface water if allowable 

under all other applicable federal, state and local regulations such as s. NR 103, Wisconsin 
Administrative Code and Chapter 30, Wis. Stat. 

 
  (4) The City of Appleton may approve off-site management measures provided that all of the following 

conditions are met: 
 

   a. The post-construction runoff is covered by a stormwater management system plan that is approved 
by the City of Appleton and that contains management requirements consistent with the purpose 
and intent of this ordinance. 

 
   b. The off-site facility meets all of the following conditions: 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 19 

 
    i. The facility is in place. 
 
    ii. The facility is designed and adequately sized to provide a level of stormwater control equal to 

or greater than that which would be afforded by on-site practices meeting the performance 
standards of this ordinance. 

 
    iii. The facility has a legally obligated entity responsible for its long-term operation and 

maintenance. 
 
    iv. Permittee must demonstrate that the proposed post-construction land development or 

redevelopment activity has received permission to use the off-site facility. 
 
    v. Permittee must also demonstrate the flow path to the off-site facility will not result in negative 

impacts to structural improvements on the property. 
 
   vi. Permittee must provide easements of all overland flow paths up to and including the overland 

flow path of the 100-year storm. 
 
  (5) Where a regional treatment option exists such that the City of Appleton exempts the applicant from all 

or part of the minimum on-site stormwater management requirements, the applicant may be required to 
pay a one-time fee in an amount determined by the City of Appleton.  In determining the fee for post-
construction runoff, the City may consider an equitable distribution of the cost for land, engineering 
design, construction, and maintenance of the regional treatment option. 

 
  (6) The discharge of runoff from a SMP, such as a wet detention pond, or after a series of such SMPs, is 

subject to this ordinance. 
(Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (k) Additional requirements.  The City of Appleton may establish stormwater management requirements more 
stringent than those set forth in this ordinance if the City determines that the requirements are needed to control 
stormwater quantity or control flooding, comply with federally approved total maximum daily load requirements, or 
control pollutants associated with existing development or redevelopment. 

 
 (l) Swale treatment for transportation facilities.   

 
  (1) Applicability.  Except as provided in Sec. 20-312(i)(2) of this ordinance, transportation facilities that use 

swales for runoff conveyance, pollutant removal and infiltration meet the stormwater discharge quality 
requirements of this section, if the swales are designed to the maximum extent practicable to do all of 
the following: 

 
   a. Be vegetated.  However, where appropriate, non-vegetative measures may be employed to prevent 

erosion or provide for runoff treatment, such as rock riprap stabilization or check dams.  It is 
preferred that tall and dense vegetation be maintained within the swale because of its greater 
effectiveness at enhancing runoff pollutant removal. 

 
   b. Swales shall comply with sections V.F. (Velocity and Depth) and V.G. (Sale Geometry Criteria) 

with a swale treatment length as long as that specified in section V.C. (Pre-Treatment) of the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources technical standard 1005 “Vegetated Infiltration 
Swales”, dated May 2007, or a superseding document.  Transportation facility swale treatment does 
not have to comply with other sections of technical standard 1005.   

 
  (2) Other requirements.   
 
   a. The City of Appleton may, consistent with water quality standards, require other provisions of this 

section be met on a transportation facility with average daily traffic of vehicles greater than two 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 20 

thousand five hundred (2,500) per day and where the initial surface water of the state that the runoff 
directly enters is any of the following: 

 
    i. An outstanding resource water. 
 
    ii. An exceptional resource water. 
 
    iii. Waters listed in s. 303(d) of the Federal Clean Water Act that are identified as impaired in 

whole or in part, because of nonpoint source impacts. 
 
    iv. Waters where targeted performance standards are developed under s. NR 151.004, Wisconsin 

Administrative Code, to meet water quality standards. 
 
   b. The transportation facility authority shall contact the City to determine if additional SMPs beyond 

a water quality swale are needed under this subsection. 
(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (m) Innovative stormwater management systems that do not meet Sec. 20-312(d), (e) or (f) of this ordinance must 
be reviewed and accepted by the City before installation. 
(188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 

 
Sec. 20-313.  Stormwater management plans. 

 
 (a) Plan requirements.   
 
  (1) The stormwater management plan required under Sec. 20-321 of this ordinance shall contain any such 

information the City of Appleton may need to evaluate the characteristics of the area affected by land 
development and redevelopment activities, the potential impacts of the proposed activity upon the quality 
and quantity of stormwater discharges, the potential impacts upon water resources and drainage systems 
and the effectiveness and acceptability of proposed stormwater management measures in meeting the 
performance standards set forth in this ordinance. 

 
  (2) All initial and final site investigations, geotechnical reports,  plans, designs, computations and drawings 

for stormwater management measures and plans submitted for review shall be stamped by a professional 
engineer registered in the State of Wisconsin and be prepared in accordance with accepted engineering 
practice and in accordance with criteria set forth by the City of Appleton. 

 
  (3) Plan submittal shall include a digital version of the WinSLAMM *.mdb file(s) and a digital 

representation of post-construction drainage area(s) to each individual treatment practice in ESRI GIS 
Shapefile or Geodatabase format, Autodesk AutoCAD (*.dwg), or other format approved by the City. 

 
  (4) Wetland evaluations and delineations shall be prepared by a qualified professional and submitted with 

any State and/or Federal concurrence letter(s). 
 
 (b) Minimum content.  The stormwater management plan shall contain at a minimum the following information: 
 
  (1) Name, address and telephone number for the following and their designees: landowner; developer; 

project engineer for practice design and certification; person(s) responsible for installation of stormwater 
management practices; and person(s) responsible for maintenance of stormwater management practices 
prior to the transfer, if any, of maintenance responsibility to another party. 

 
  (2) A proper legal description of the property proposed to be developed in Outagamie County Coordinate 

System and referenced to the U.S. Public Land Survey system or to block and lot numbers within a 
recorded land subdivision plat. 

 
  (3) Pre-development site conditions, including: 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 21 

 
   a. One or more site maps of current site conditions at a scale of not less than one (1) inch equal one 

hundred (100) feet.  The site maps shall show the following: site location and legal property 
description; predominant soil types and hydrologic soil groups; existing cover type and condition; 
topographic contours of the site; topography and drainage network including enough of the 
contiguous properties to show runoff patterns onto, through, and from the site; watercourses that 
may affect or be affected by runoff from the site; flow path and direction for all stormwater 
conveyance sections; watershed boundaries used in hydrology determinations to show compliance 
with performance standards; lakes, streams, wetlands, channels, ditches, and other watercourses on 
and immediately adjacent to the site; limits of the 100-year floodplain; location of wells and 
wellhead protection areas covering the project area and delineated pursuant to s. NR 811.16, 
Wisconsin Administrative Code. 

 
   b. Hydrology and pollutant loading computations as needed to show compliance with performance 

standards. All major assumptions used in developing input parameters shall be clearly stated.  The 
geographic areas used in making the calculations shall be clearly cross-referenced to the required 
map(s). 

 
  (4) Post-construction site conditions, including: 

 
   a. Explanation of the provisions to preserve and use natural topography and land cover features to 

minimize changes in peak flow runoff rates and volumes to surface waters and wetlands. 
 
   b. Explanation of any restrictions on stormwater management measures in the development area 

imposed by wellhead protection plans and ordinances. 
 
   c. One or more site maps at a scale of not less than one (1) inch equals one hundred (100) feet showing 

the following: post-construction pervious areas including vegetative cover type and condition; 
impervious surfaces including all buildings, structures and pavement; post-construction topographic 
contours of the site; post-construction drainage network including enough of the contiguous 
properties to show runoff patterns onto, through and from the site; locations and dimensions of 
drainage easements;  locations of maintenance easements specified in the maintenance agreement; 
flow path and direction for all stormwater conveyance sections; location and type of all stormwater 
management conveyance and treatment practices, including the on-site and off-site tributary 
drainage areas; location and type of conveyance system that will carry runoff from the drainage and 
treatment practices to the nearest adequate outlet such as a curbed street, storm drain, or natural 
drainage way; watershed boundaries used in hydrology and pollutant loading calculations and any 
changes to lakes, streams, wetlands, channels, ditches and other watercourses on and immediately 
adjacent to the site.  

 
   d. Hydrology and pollutant loading computations as needed to show compliance with performance 

standards. The computations shall be made for each discharge point in the development and the 
geographic areas used in making the calculations shall be clearly cross-referenced to the required 
map(s).  The plan shall include a table summarizing the drainage area, pre-project and post-project 
loadings and removal efficiencies for each treatment practice.  If the project includes off-site 
drainage areas those areas shall be incorporated into the modeling to determine treatment practice 
effectiveness but shall be listed separately in the table.  A development cannot take credit for off-
site areas and reductions without a written agreement from the off-site landowner(s). 

 
   e. Results of investigations of soil and groundwater required for the placement and design of 

stormwater management measures.  
 
   f. Detailed drawings including cross-sections and profiles of all permanent stormwater conveyance 

and treatment practices.   
 
  (5) A description and installation schedule for the stormwater management practices needed to meet the 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 22 

performance standards in Sec. 20-312 of this ordinance. 
 
  (6) A maintenance plan and inspection report form developed for the life of each stormwater management 

practice including the required maintenance activities and maintenance activity schedule. 
 
  (7) An explanation of the technical basis used to select the stormwater management practices. 
 
  (8) If maximum extent practicable is requested for any of the requirements of this ordinance, the plan shall 

include a written, site-specific explanation of why the standard cannot be met. 
 
 (9) Other information requested in writing by the City of Appleton to determine compliance of the proposed 

stormwater management measures with the provisions of this ordinance. 
(Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (c) Alternate requirements.  The City of Appleton may prescribe alternative submittal requirements for 
applicants seeking an exemption to on-site stormwater management performance standards under Secs. 20-312(d), (e) 
or (f) of this ordinance. 
 
 (d) Modifications.  When a change in land use or stormwater management practice occurs at a site with an 
approved stormwater management plan, a modified stormwater management plan must be submitted to the City for 
review and approval before those changes in practice occur.  Plan modifications shall be modeled in the latest version 
of WinSLAMM unless otherwise approved by the City. 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10, Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16, Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
Sec. 20-314.  Maintenance agreement. 
 
 (a) Maintenance agreement required.  The maintenance agreement required for stormwater management 
practices under Sec. 20-321(b) of this ordinance shall be an agreement between the City of Appleton and the 
responsible party to provide for perpetual maintenance of stormwater practices.  The agreement shall be recorded with 
the appropriate (Outagamie, Winnebago, or Calumet) County Register of Deeds, as a property deed restriction so that 
it is binding upon all subsequent owners of land served by the stormwater management practices. 
(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 
 
 (b) Agreement provisions.  The responsible party shall maintain stormwater management practices in 
accordance with the stormwater practice maintenance provisions contained in the approved stormwater management 
plan submitted under Sec. 20-321(b) of this ordinance.  This maintenance agreement includes: 
 
  (1) Identification of the stormwater facilities and designation of the drainage area served by the facilities. 
 
  (2) A schedule for regular maintenance of each aspect of the stormwater management system consistent 

with the stormwater management plan as required under Sec. 20-321 of this ordinance. 
 
  (3) Identification of the responsible party(ies), organization or city, county, town or village responsible for 

long-term maintenance of the stormwater management practices identified in the stormwater 
management plan as required under Sec. 20-321 of this ordinance. 

 
  (4) Requirement that the responsible party(ies), organization(s), or city, county, town or village shall 

maintain stormwater management practices in accordance with the schedule included in Sec. 20-
314(b)(2) of this ordinance. 

 
 (5) Authorization for the City of Appleton to access the property to conduct inspections of stormwater 

practices as necessary to ascertain that the practices are being maintained and operated in accordance 
with the approved stormwater management plan.  The City of Appleton shall maintain public records of 
the results of the site inspections, shall inform the responsible party for maintenance of the inspection 
results and shall specifically indicate any corrective actions required to bring the stormwater 
management practice into proper working condition and a reasonable time frame during which the 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 23 

corrective action must be taken. 
 
 (6) Authorization for the City of Appleton to perform the corrected actions identified in the inspection report 

if the responsible party does not make the required corrections in the specified time period.  The City of 
Appleton shall charge the responsible party(ies) identified in the maintenance agreement for the cost of 
such work and shall place a lien on the property by the City of Appleton, which may be collected as 
special charges pursuant to subchapter VII, §66(16). 

 
 (c) Modification of agreement.  This maintenance agreement may be modified by mutual agreement of the 
responsible party and the City of Appleton.  The modification date shall be the date the modified maintenance 
agreement is recorded with the appropriate (Outagamie, Winnebago, or Calumet) County Register of Deeds, as a 
property deed restriction so that the modified agreement is binding upon all subsequent owners of the land served by 
the stormwater management practices. 
 
  The maintenance agreement shall be modified when there are changes in land use or stormwater management 
practices at the site.  The modified plan shall be submitted and approved by the City before changes in practices occur. 
(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10) 
 
 (d) Long term maintenance stormwater management report. 

 
  (1) Every property owner that has been granted a storwmater stormwater management permit, constructed 

on-site stormwater management practices and signed and recorded the required maintenance agreement, 
shall submit to the Director of Public Works a report on the condition of the site’s stormwater 
management devices and a certification that the SMPs are functioning per the approved plan. 

 
  (2) Owners shall be notified by the City of the requirements and the deadline for reporting. 
 
   The report and certification shall be completed and sealed by a Professional Engineer currently licensed 

in the State of Wisconsin, on forms provided by the City. 
 
  (3) The requirement that the report and certification be sealed by a Professional Engineer may be omitted in 

the case of a stormwater management plan consisting solely of storm sewer inlet filters and/or catch 
basin sumps, provided that the applicant can provide the appropriate documentation of cleaning activities 
and dated photos. 

 
  (4) For sites with more extensive stormwater management systems, the requirements may include, but are 

not limited to: 
 
   a. Photos of the management device at the time of inspection.  This shall include photos of existing 

conditions and photos after the completion of any required maintenance. 
 
   b. Bathometric survey. 
 
   c. Topographic survey. 
 
   d. Infiltration testing. 
 
   e. Completed inspection forms. 
 
   f. Documentation of the completion of the required annual maintenance, including copies of receipts 

(actual prices paid need not be reported) from agents hired to perform the work and the date the 
work was completed. 

 
  (5) Upon receipt of the report and certification, if requested on the cover letter accompanying the report or 

by separate email, City Engineering staff shall provide an email response to the contact listed on the 
reporting forms stating that the report was received.  This response from the City shall be made within 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 24 

20 workings days of receiving the report. 
(Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
 (e) Termination of agreement.  The maintenance agreement shall be terminated at such time that responsibility 
for maintenance of the stormwater management practice is legally transferred to the City of Appleton or agency 
acceptable to the City of Appleton, through a written, binding agreement.  The termination date of the maintenance 
agreement required under Sec. 20-314(a) of this ordinance shall be the date upon which the legal transfer of 
maintenance responsibility to the City of Appleton or agency is made effective.   
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16; Ord 72-20, §1, 5-1-20) 
 
Secs. 20-315 – 20-320.  Reserved. 
 
 
 

DIVISION 3.  PERMITTING AND FEES 
 
Sec. 20-321. Permitting requirements, procedures, and fees. 
 
 (a) Permit required.  No responsible party may undertake a land disturbing construction activity except One- 
and Two-family residential lots, without receiving a post-construction runoff permit from the City of Appleton prior 
to commencing the proposed activity.  
 
 (b) Permit application and fee.  Unless specifically excluded by this ordinance, any responsible party desiring 
a permit (permit holder) shall submit to the City of Appleton a permit application made on a form provided by the 
City of Appleton for that purpose.   
 
  (1) Unless otherwise excepted by this ordinance, a permit application must be accompanied by a stormwater 

management plan, narrative and drawings, grading plan, utility plan, landscape plan, non-refundable 
permit review fee and an operation and maintenance plan and agreement as set forth in Table 35.  The 
initial submittal and the final approved plan shall be stamped by an engineer licensed in the State of 
Wisconsin. in a hard copy format.  The initial and final submittals shall include one stamped hard copy 
of the drawings and all documents in .pdf format. 

 
Table 35 

 
 

Land Development Activity 
 

Permit 
Stormwater Mgmt 

Plan 
Grading & Drainage 

Plan 
Maintenance 

Agrm 
Agricultural Use -- -- -- --
Non-Residential X X X X
1 & 2 Family Residential on 1 acre or 
greater lot 

X X X -- 

Multi-Family Residential X X X X
Subdivision Development X X X X

 
  (2) The stormwater management plan shall be prepared to meet the requirements of Sec. 20-313 of this 

ordinance and the maintenance agreement shall be prepared to meet the requirements of Sec. 20-314 of 
this ordinance.  

 
  (3) Plan revisions occurring after initial plan approval shall be submitted for review with an application, 

applicable changes to drawings, calculations, and the Operation and Maintenance Agreement.  Fees shall 
be per (4) below. 

 
  (4) Fees for the above-noted permits will include a non-refundable one hundred dollar ($100) application 

fee and will be the actual costs incurred by the City.  The application fee shall be credited toward the 
actual costs incurred by the City.  Fees shall be payable within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice 
from the City.  An invoice will be sent any time an applicant fails to resubmit a plan revision for ninety 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 25 

(90) days or more. 
(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 157-11, §1, 1-1-12, Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 

 
 (c) Review and approval of permit application.  The City of Appleton will review any complete permit 
application that is submitted with the required fee.  The following procedure will be used: 
 
  (1) For a Major Stormwater Management Plan, within thirty (30) business days of the receipt of a complete 

permit application, including all documents as required by Sec. 20-321(b)(1) of this ordinance, the City 
of Appleton shall inform the applicant whether the application, plan and maintenance agreement are 
approved or disapproved.  The City of Appleton shall base the decision on requirements set forth in Secs. 
20-312, 20-313 and 20-314 of this ordinance. 

 
  (2) For a Minor Stormwater Management Plan, within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of a complete 

permit application, including all documents as required by Sec. 20-321(b)(1) of this ordinance, the City 
of Appleton shall inform the applicant whether the application, plan and maintenance agreement are 
approved or disapproved.  The City of Appleton shall base the decision on requirements set forth in Secs. 
20-312, 20-313 and 20-314 of this ordinance. 

 
  (3) If the stormwater permit application, stormwater management plan and maintenance agreement are 

approved, or if an agreed upon payment of fees in lieu of stormwater management practices are paid, the 
City of Appleton shall issue the permit. 

 
  (4) If the stormwater permit application, stormwater management plan or maintenance agreement are 

disapproved, the applicant may revise the stormwater management plan or agreement, or may appeal the 
decision of the City of Appleton as provided for in Sec. 20-327 of this ordinance. 

 
  (5) If additional information is submitted, the City of Appleton shall have thirty (30) business days from the 

date the additional information is received for a Major Stormwater Management Plan and fifteen (15) 
business days for a Minor Stormwater Management Plan to inform the applicant that the plan and 
maintenance agreement are either approved or disapproved. 

 
  (6) Failure by the City of Appleton to inform the permit applicant of a decision within the timelines listed 

above shall be deemed to mean approval of the submittal and applicant may proceed as if permit has 
been issued. 

(Ord 157-11, §1, 1-1-12, 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 
 
 (d) Stormwater practice installation and maintenance performance security.  The City of Appleton may, at its 
discretion, require the submittal of a cash escrow, letter of credit, or performance security prior to issuance of the 
permit to ensure that the stormwater practices are installed and maintained by the responsible party as required by the 
stormwater management plan.  The amount of the installation performance security shall be determined by the City 
of Appleton, not to exceed the total estimated construction cost of the stormwater management practices approved 
under the permit unless otherwise specified in the permit. 
 
  The amount of the maintenance performance security shall be determined by the City of Appleton, not to 
exceed ten- (10-) years of the maintenance costs estimated in the stormwater plan.  The performance security shall 
contain forfeiture provisions for failure to complete work specified in the stormwater management plan.   
 
 Conditions for the release of performance security are as follows: 
 
  (1) The installation performance security shall be released in full only upon submission of “as built plans” 

and written certification by the design engineer that the stormwater practice(s) were installed and 
function as intended in accordance with the approved plan and other applicable provisions of this 
ordinance.  The City of Appleton may make provisions for a partial pro-rata release of the performance 
security based on the completion of various development stages including the final inspection of 
landscaping material. 

 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 26 

  (2) The maintenance performance security, minus any costs incurred by the City of Appleton to conduct 
required maintenance, design, engineering, preparation, checking and review of designs, plans and 
specifications; supervision and inspection to ensure that construction is in compliance with applicable 
plans, specifications, regulations and ordinances; and legal, administrative and fiscal work undertaken 
to assure and implement such compliance, shall be released at such time that the responsibility for 
practice maintenance is passed on to another private entity, via an approved maintenance agreement, or 
to the City of Appleton. 
 

 (e) Permit conditions.  All permits issued under this ordinance shall be subject to the following conditions, and 
holders of permits issued under this ordinance shall be deemed to have accepted these conditions.  The City of 
Appleton may suspend or revoke a permit for violation of a permit condition, following written notification of the 
responsible party.  An action by the City of Appleton to suspend or revoke this permit may be appealed in accordance 
with Sec. 20-327 of this ordinance. 

 
  (1) Compliance with this permit does not relieve the responsible party of the responsibility to comply with 

other applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
  (2) The responsible party shall design, install, and maintain all structural and nonstructural stormwater 

management measures in accordance with the approved stormwater management plan, maintenance 
agreement, and this permit. 

 
  (3) The responsible party shall notify the City of Appleton at least three (3) business days before 

commencing any work in conjunction with the stormwater management plan, and within five (5) 
business days upon completion of the stormwater management practices.  

 
   If required as a special condition, the permit holder shall make additional notification according to a 

schedule set forth by the City of Appleton so that practice installations can be inspected during 
construction. 

 
  (4) Completed stormwater management practices must pass a final inspection to determine if they are in 

accordance with the approved stormwater management plan and ordinance. The inspection must be made 
by the City of Appleton, or other competent professionals.  The City of Appleton shall notify the permit 
holder in writing of any changes required in such practices to bring them into compliance with the 
conditions of this permit.  The responsible party is further required to submit an as-built plan and a 
certificate of completion, stating the completion of the permitted work is in accordance with the 
stormwater management plan, City of Appleton, state and federal requirements.  The certificate must be 
signed by the design engineer. 

 
  (5) The responsible party shall notify the City of any significant modifications it intends to make to an 

approved stormwater management plan.  The City of Appleton may require that the proposed 
modifications be submitted for approval prior to incorporation into the stormwater management plan and 
execution by the responsible party. 

 
  (6) The responsible party shall maintain all stormwater management practices specified in the approved 

stormwater management plan until the practices either become the responsibility of the City of Appleton, 
or are transferred to a subsequent responsible party as specified in the approved maintenance agreement. 

 
  (7) The responsible party authorizes the City of Appleton to perform any work or operations necessary to 

bring stormwater management measures into conformance with the approved stormwater management 
plan, and consents to placing associated costs upon the tax roll as a special lien against the property 
which may be collected as special charges pursuant to §66.0627, Wis. Stat., by the City of Appleton or 
to charging such costs against the letter of credit or cash bond posted for the project.  

 
  (8) If so directed by the City of Appleton, the responsible party shall repair at the permit holder’s own 

expense all damage to adjoining municipal facilities and drainage ways caused by runoff, where such 
damage is caused by activities that are not in compliance with the approved stormwater management 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 27 

plan. 
 
  (9) The responsible party shall permit property access to the City of Appleton or its designee for the purpose 

of inspecting the property for compliance with the approved stormwater management plan and this 
permit. 

 
  (10) Where necessary, it shall be the responsibility of the permit holder to obtain any appropriate easements 

or other necessary property/interests with affected property owners concerning the prevention of 
endangerment to property or public safety.  Issuance of this permit does not create or affect any such 
rights. 

 
  (11) The owner is subject to the enforceable actions detailed in Sec. 20-326 of this ordinance if the responsible 

party fails to comply with the terms of this permit. 
(Ord 66-10, §1, 4-13-10; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 
 
 (f) Permit duration.  The responsible party must start the permit activities within one (1) year of the date the 
permit is issued.  An extension of one (1) year may be granted by the Director, provided a written request is submitted 
to the Director prior to the expiration date for the initial permit.  If permit activities are not started, then a new permit 
application and fee may be required. 
(Ord 6610, §1, 4-13-10) 
 
 (g) Fee in lieu of on-site stormwater management practices.  Where the City of Appleton waives all or part of 
the minimum on-site stormwater management requirements under Sec. 20-313(c) of this ordinance, or where the 
waiver is based on the provision of adequate stormwater facilities provided by the City of Appleton downstream of 
the proposed development or redevelopment, as provided for under Sec. 20-312 of this ordinance, the applicant shall 
be required to pay a fee in an amount as determined by the City of Appleton pursuant to §66.0617, Wis. Stat. and any 
other applicable law.  
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 
 
Secs. 20-322 – 20-325.  Reserved. 
 
 
 

DIVISION 4.  ENFORCEMENT AND APPEALS 
 
Sec. 20-326.  Enforcement and penalties. 

 
 (a) Any land disturbing construction activity or any post-construction runoff initiated after the effective date of 
this ordinance by any person, firm, association or corporation subject to the ordinance provisions shall be deemed a 
violation unless conducted in accordance with the requirements of this ordinance. 

 
 (b) The City of Appleton shall notify the responsible party or owner by certified mail of any non-complying land 
disturbing construction activity or post construction runoff. The notice shall describe the nature of the violation, 
remedial actions needed, a schedule for remedial action and additional enforcement action, which may be taken. 
 
 (c) Upon receipt of written notification from the City of Appleton, the responsible party or owner shall correct 
work that does not comply with the stormwater management plan or other provisions of this permit.  The responsible 
party or owner shall make corrections as necessary to meet the specifications and schedule set forth by the City of 
Appleton in the notice. 
 
 (d) If the violations to a permit issued pursuant to this ordinance are likely to result in damage to properties, 
public facilities, or waters of the state, the City of Appleton may enter the land and take emergency actions necessary 
to prevent such damage.  The costs incurred by the City of Appleton plus interest and legal costs shall be billed to the 
responsible party or owner. 
 
 (e) The City of Appleton is authorized to post a stop work order on all land disturbing construction activity that 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 28 

is in violation of this ordinance, or to request the Appleton City Attorney to obtain a cease and desist order. 
  
 (f) The City of Appleton may revoke a permit issued under this ordinance for non-compliance with ordinance 
provisions. 
 
 (g) Any permit revocation, stop work order or cease and desist order shall remain in effect unless retracted by 
the City of Appleton or by a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 
 (h) The City of Appleton is authorized to refer any violation of this ordinance, or of a stop work order or cease 
and desist order issued pursuant to this ordinance to the Appleton City Attorney for the commencement of further 
legal proceedings. 
 
 (i) Any person, firm, association or corporation who does not comply with the provisions of this ordinance shall 
be subject to the general penalty provisions of the Appleton Municipal Code Sec. 1-16.  Each day that the violation 
exists shall constitute a separate offense. 

 
 (j) Violations of this ordinance deemed to be a public nuisance shall be subject to abatement under Sec. 12-32 
of the City of Appleton Municipal Code or compliance with this ordinance may be enforced by injunctional order in 
any court with jurisdiction. It shall not be necessary to prosecute for forfeiture or a cease and desist order before 
resorting to injunctional proceedings. 
 
 (k) When the City of Appleton determines that the holder of a permit issued pursuant to this ordinance has failed 
to follow practices set forth in the stormwater management plan submitted and approved pursuant to Sec. 20-321 of 
this ordinance, or has failed to comply with schedules set forth in said stormwater management plan, the City of 
Appleton or a party designated by the City of Appleton may enter upon the land and perform the work or other 
operations necessary to bring the condition of said lands into conformance with requirements of the approved plan.  
The City of Appleton shall keep a detailed accounting of the costs and expenses of performing this work.  These costs 
and expenses shall be deducted from any performance or maintenance security posted pursuant to Sec. 20-321 of this 
ordinance.  Where such a security has not been established, or where such a security is insufficient to cover these 
costs, the costs and expenses shall be entered on the tax roll as a special charge against the property. 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 
 
Sec. 20-327.  Appeals. 
 
 (a) Appeals.  The Utilities Committee of the Appleton Common Council shall hear and recommend to Council 
appeals where it is alleged that there is error in any order, decision or determination made by the City of Appleton in 
administering this ordinance.  The Committee shall use the rules, procedures, duties and powers authorized by statute 
in hearing and recommending appeals. 
 
 Upon appeal, the Committee may recommend to Council relief from the provisions of this ordinance that are 
not contrary to the public interest or provisions of state regulations, and where owing to special conditions a literal 
enforcement of this ordinance will result in unnecessary hardship. 
 
 (b) Who may appeal.  Appeals to the Utilities Committee of the City of Appleton may be taken by any aggrieved 
person or by an officer, department, board or bureau of the City of Appleton affected by any decision of the City of 
Appleton.  Written appeals shall be filed with the City Clerk.  The Utilities Committee will make a recommendation 
within forty-five (45) calendar days of filing of the appeal.  If the Utilities Committee takes no action within forty-
five (45) calendar days, the appeal will automatically be sent to Council with a recommendation for approval.  Either 
party may file a written request for a time extension with the City Clerk. 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 

 
Secs. 20-328 – 20-330.  Reserved. 
 
 
 



____________________________________ 
Stormwater Management Ordinance 

Page | 29 

DIVISION 5.  SEVERABILITY 
 
Sec. 20-331.  Severability. 
 
 If any section or portion thereof shall be declared by a decision of a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 
unlawful or unenforceable, such decision shall apply only to the specific section or portion thereof directly specified 
in the decision, and not affect the validity of all other provisions, sections or portion thereof of the ordinance which 
shall remain in full force and effect. 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 
 
 
 

DIVISION VI. EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Sec. 20-332.  Effective date. 
 
 This ordinance is in full force and effect on May 1, 2016August 1, 2022. 
(Ord 188-03, §1, 10-21-03; Ord 42-16, §1, 5-1-16) 
 



Submittal of Annual Reports and Other Compliance Documents for Municipal 

Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) Permits

NOTE: Missing or incomplete fields are highlighted at the bottom of each page.  You may save, close and return to your draft permit as often as necessary to complete 

your application.  After 120 days your draft is deleted.

Form 3400-224(R8/2021)

Required Attachments and Supplemental Information 

Please complete the contents of each tab to submit your MS4 permit compliance document. The information 

included in this checklist is necessary for a complete submittal. A complete and detailed submittal will help us 

review about your MS4 permit document. To help us make a decision in the shortest amount of time possible, the 

following information must be submitted:

� Review related web site and instructions for Municipal storm water permit eReporting [Exit Form]

� Complete all required fields on the annual report form and upload required attachments

� Attach the following other supporting documents as appropriate using the attachments tab above

� Public Education and Outreach Annual Report Summary 

� Public Involvement and Participation Annual Report Summary

� Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Annual Report Summary

� Construction Site Pollution Control Annual Report Summary

� Post-Construction Storm Water Management Annual Report Summary

�  Pollution Prevention Annual Report Summary

� Leaf and Yard Waste Management

� Municipal Facility (BMP) Inspection Report

� Municipal Property SWPPP

� Municipally Property Inspection Report

� Winter Road Maintenance

� Storm Sewer Map Annual Report Attachment

� Storm Water Quality Management Annual Report Attachment

� TMDL Attachment

� Storm Water Consortium/Group Report

Reporting Information : 

Will you be completing the Annual Report or other submittal type?  Annual Report  Other

Is this submittal also satisfying an Urban Nonpoint Source Grant funded deliverable?    Yes  No

Project Name: 2021 Annual Report

County: Outagamie

Municipality: Appleton City

Permit Number: S050075

Facility Number: 31098

Reporting Year: 2021

Annual Report



� Municipal Cooperation Attachment

� Other Annual Report Attachment

� Attach the following permit compliance documents as appropriate using the attachments tab above

� Storm Water Management Program

� Public Education and Outreach Program

� Public Involvement and Participation Program

� Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination Program

� Construction Site Pollutant Control Program

� Post-Construction Storm Water Management Program

� Pollution Prevention Program

� Municipal Storm Water Management Facility (BMP) Inventory

� Municipal Storm Water Management Facility (BMP) Inspection and Maintenance Plan 

� Total Maximum Daily Load documents (*If applicable, see permit for due dates.)

� TMDL Mapping*

� TMDL Modeling*

� TMDL Implementation Plan*

� Fecal Coliform Screening Parameter *

� Fecal Coliform Inventory and Map (S050075-03 general permittees Appendix B B.5.2 – document due to the 

department by March 31, 2022)

� Fecal Coliform Source Elimination Plan (S050075-03 general permittees Appendix B - document due to the 

department by October 31,2023)

� Sign and Submit form



Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Note: Compliance items must be submitted using the Attachments tab.

Municipal Contact Information- Complete

Notice: Pursuant to s. NR 216.07(8), Wis. Adm. Code, an owner or operator of a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) is 

required to submit an annual report to the Department of Natural Resources (Department) by March 31 of each year to report on 

activities for the previous calendar year (“reporting year”). This form is being provided by the Department for the user’s convenience for 

reporting on activities undertaken in each reporting year of the permit term. Personal information collected will be used for 

administrative purposes and may be provided to the extent required by Wisconsin’s Open Records Law [ss. 19.31-19.39, Wis. Stats.].

Municipality Information 

Name of Municipality Appleton City

Facility ID # or (FIN): 31098

Updated Information:
Check to update mailing address information    

Mailing Address: 100 North Appleton Street

Mailing Address 2:

City: Appleton

State: Wisconsin

Zip Code:  xxxxx  or xxxxx-xxxx54911

Primary Municipal Contact Person  (Authorized Representative for MS4 Permit)

The “Authorized Representative” or “Authorized Municipal Contact” includes the municipal official that was 

charged with compliance and oversight of the permit conditions, and has signature authority for submitting 

permit documents to the Department (i.e., Mayor, Municipal Administrator, Director of Public Works, City 

Engineer).

Select to create new  primary contact 

First Name: Paula

Last Name: Vandehey

Select to update  current contact information  

Title: DPW Director

Mailing Address: 100 N. Appleton Street

Mailing Address 2:

City: Appleton

State: WI

Zip Code: xxxxx  or xxxxx-xxxx54911

Phone Number: Ext: xxx-xxx-xxxx920-832-6474

Email: paula.vandehey@appleton.org

Additional Contacts Information (Optional)  

 I&E Program     



1. Does the municipality rely on another entity to satisfy some of the permit requirements?  

 Yes    No 

2. Has there been any changes to the municipality’s participation in group efforts towards permit compliances (i.e., 

the municipality has added or dropped consortium membership)?

 Yes   No   

Individual with responsibility for:

(Check all that apply)

 IDDE Program   

 IDDE Response Procedure Manual  

 Municipal-wide Water Quality Plan  

 Ordinances

 Pollution Prevention Program  

 Post-Construction Program  

 Winter roadway maintenance

First Name: Nathan

Last Name: Loper

Title: Dep Dir Operations

Mailing Address: 2625 E Glendale Ave

Mailing Address 2:

City: Appleton

State: WI

Zip Code: xxxxx  or xxxxx-xxxx54911

Phone Number: Ext: xxx-xxx-xxxx920-832-5580

Email: nathan.loper@appleton.org

Public Education and Outreach  

Public Involvement and Participation 

Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination 

Construction Site Pollutant Control 

Post-Construction Storm Water Management 

Pollution Prevention

 NEWSC and FWWA

 NEWSC and FWWA

 Westwood Associates

 raSmith and Brown and Caldwell

 raSmith and Brown and Caldwell

Missing Information



Minimum Control Measures- Section 1 : 

a. Complete the following information on Public Education and Outreach Activities related to storm 

water. Select the Delivery Mechanism that best describes how the topics were conveyed to your 

population. Use the Add Event to add additional entries. 

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7.

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Complete

1. Public Education and Outreach

Event Start Date 6/1/2021

Project/Event Name DPW Newsletter

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveDistribution of print media

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:







General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other







101 + Yes No

Event Start Date 1/4/2021

Project/Event Name One on One communication

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveEducational activity*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:







General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other











11-50 Yes No



Event Start Date 6/7/2021

Project/Event Name Summer Camp

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveTargeted group training*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:







General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other





11-50 Yes No

Event Start Date 1/4/2021

Project/Event Name NEWSC exhibiting

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveInformational booth*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:











General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other







101 + Yes No

Event Start Date 1/4/2021

Project/Event Name NEWSC School Presentions

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveTargeted group training*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing





General Public

Public Employees

Residents





51-100 Yes No



Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:











Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other

Event Start Date 1/4/2021

Project/Event Name Stormwater Utility Pledge Supporter

Delivery Mechanism *ActivePassive print media

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:









General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other





1 - 10 Yes No

Event Start Date 1/4/2021

Project/Event Name FWWA Conference

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveWorkshop*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:





General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other





101 + Yes No



Event Start Date 5/1/2021

Project/Event Name Fox River Clean up

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveEducational activity*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other







101 + Yes No

Event Start Date 12/1/2021

Project/Event Name Carpet Cleaner mailing

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveDistribution of print media

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:





General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other



11-50 Yes No

Event Start Date 5/3/2021

Project/Event Name NEWSC posters at parks

Delivery Mechanism *ActivePassive print media

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

General Public

Public Employees

 11-50 Yes No



b. Brief explanation on Public Education and Outreach reporting. Limit response to 250 characters 

and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 2 : 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:









Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other

Event Start Date 1/4/2021

Project/Event Name Project Meetings and plan review

Delivery Mechanism *ActiveTargeted group training*

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Illicit discharge detection and elimination 

Household hazardous waste disposal/pet 

waste management/vehicle washing

Yard waste management/pesticide and 

fertilizer application

Stream and shoreline management

Residential infiltration

Construction sites and post-construction 

storm water management

Pollution prevention

Green infrastructure/low impact 

development

Other:





General Public

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other





11-50 Yes No

See attached spreadsheet and summary.  Education options remain limited due to 

Covid. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

2. Public Involvement and Participation



a. Permit Activities. Complete the following information on Public Involvement and Participation 

Activities related to storm water. Select the Delivery Mechanism that best describes how the permit 

activities were conveyed to your population. Use the Add Event to add additional entries.  

b. Volunteer Activities. Complete the following information on Public Involvement and Participation 

Activities related to storm water. Select the Delivery Mechanism that best describes how volunteer 

activities were conveyed to your population. Use the Add Event to add additional entries. 

Event Start Date 3/4/2021

Project/Event Name Utilities Committee meeting and Council meeting

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:

 General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 

 11-50  Yes  No

Event Start Date 3/4/2021

Project/Event Name Updated Pollution Prevention Program 

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 

 11-50  Yes  No

Event Start Date 1/8/2021

Project/Event Name Updated Illicit Discharge Program

Delivery Mechanism Government Event (Public Hearing, Council Meeting, etc)

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

MS4 Annual Report

Storm Water Management Program

Storm Water related ordinance

Other:



General Public

Public Employees

Residents 

Businesses 

Contractors 

Developers 

Industries 

Other 

 11-50  Yes  No



c. Brief explanation on Public Involvement and Participation reporting. Limit response 

to 250 characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 3 : 

Event Start Date  NA (Individual Permittee).5/1/2021

Project/Event Name FWWA River Cleanup

Delivery Mechanism Clean up event

Topics Covered Target Audience
Estimated People 

Reached (Optional)

Regional Effort

(Optional)

Volunteer Opportunity General Public 

Public Employees

Residents

Businesses

Contractors

Developers

Industries

Other







101 + Yes   No

Public Participation Program completed as expected despite on-going Covid and staffing issues.  

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

3. Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination

a. How many total outfalls does the municipality have? 343 Unsure

b. How many outfalls did the municipality evaluate as part 

of their routine ongoing field screening program?
98 Unsure

c. From the municipality's routine screening, how many 

were confirmed illicit discharges?
12 Unsure

d. How many illicit discharge complaints did the 

municipality receive?
16 Unsure

e. From the complaints received, how many were 

confirmed illicit discharges?
16 Unsure

f. How many of the identified illicit discharges did the 

municipality eliminate in the reporting year (from both 

routine screening and complaints)? 
(If the sum of 3.c. and 3.e. does not equal 3.f., please explain below.)

17 Unsure

g. How many of the following enforcement mechanisms did the municipality 

use to enforce its illicit discharge ordinance? Check all that apply and 

Unsure



Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 4 : 

enter the number of each used in the reporting year.

Verbal Warning 12

Written Warning (including email) 4

Notice of Violation 0

Civil Penalty/ Citation 0

Additional Information: 

h. Brief explanation on Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination reporting.   If you 

marked Unsure for any questions above, justify the reasoning.  Limit response to 

250 characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

High conductivity from salt use and HVAC systems is hard to eliminate.  Detergents disappear quickly 

and can be untraceable by the time staff arrives to track the discharge. Outfalls unresolved will be 

screened again in 2022. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

4. Construction Site Pollutant Control

a. How many total construction sites with one acre or more 

of land disturbing construction activity were active at any 

point in the reporting year?

23 Unsure

b. How many construction sites with one acre or more of 

land disturbing construction activity did the municipality 

issue permits for in the reporting year?

17 Unsure

c. How many erosion control inspections did the municipality 

complete in the reporting year (at sites with one acre or 

more of land disturbing construction activity)?

267 Unsure

d. What types of enforcement actions does the municipality have available 

to compel compliance with the regulatory mechanism? Check all that 

apply and enter the number of each used in the reporting year.

Unsure

 No Authority

 Verbal Warning 84

 Written Warning (including email) 24

 Notice of Violation 0

 Civil Penalty/ Citation 0

 Stop Work Order 0

 Forfeiture of Deposit

 Other - Describe below



Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 5 : 

e. Brief explanation on Construction Site Pollutant Control reporting .  If you marked 

Unsure for any questions above, justify the reasoning. Limit response to 250 characters 

and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

2021 Inspections limited due to Covid. Continued to train new Erosion Control Inspector, who then 

left position January 3, 2022. Vacancy filled effective February 1, 2022 and 2022 will be another year 

of training. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Has Missing Items

5. Post-Construction Storm Water Management

a. How many sites with new structural storm water 

management facilities* have received local approval ?  
*Engineered and constructed systems that are designed to provide storm water 

quality control such as wet detention ponds, constructed wetlands, infiltration 

basins, grassed swales, permeable pavement, catch basin sumps, etc.

8 Unsure

b. Does the permittee have procedures for inspecting and 

maintaining private storm water facilities?  

Yes No Unsure

c. If Yes, how many privately owned storm water 

management facilities were inspected in the reporting year ? 
Inspections completed by private landowners should be included in the reported 

number.

10 Unsure

d. What types of enforcement actions does the municipality have available 

to compel compliance with the regulatory mechanism?  Check all that 

apply and enter the number of each used in the reporting year.

Unsure

 No Authority

 Verbal Warning 10

 Written Warning (including email) 10

 Notice of Violation 7

 Civil Penalty/ Citation 0

 Forfeiture of Deposit

 Complete Maintenance 0

 Bill Responsible Party 0

 Other - Describe below



Maximum length is 250 characters, 

Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

e. Brief explanation on Post-Construction Storm Water Management reporting . If 

marked 'Unsure' on any questions above, justify your reasoning.  Limit  your response to 

250 characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Verbal and written warnings are not tracked so reported numbers are estimates. Began program to have 

private SMPs inspected and certified. Progress is difficult and slow due to paper files and limited staff 

availability. Sites have not been maintained and multiple contacts are needed to complete the process. 

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Minimum Control Measures - Section 6 : Complete

6. Pollution Prevention

Storm Water Management Facility Inspections    Not Applicable

a. Enter the total number of municipally owned or operated 

structural storm water management facilities ?
203 Unsure

b. How many new municipally owned storm water management 

facilities were installed in the reporting year ?
4 Unsure

c. How many municipally owned storm water management facilities 

were inspected in the reporting year?
196 Unsure

d. What elements are looked at during  inspections (250 character 

limit)? 

Sediment depth, trash, bank stability, inlet and outlet structures and vegetation

e. How many of these facilities required maintenance? 101 Unsure

f. Brief explanation on Storm Water Management Facility inspection 

reporting. If you marked Unsure for any questions above, justify the 

reasoning.  Limit response to 250 characters and/or attach supplemental 

information on the attachments page.

Inspection and maintenance programs generally on schedule.

Public Works Yards & Other Municipally Owned Properties (SWPPP Plan Review)  Not Applicable

g. How many municipal properties require a SWPPP? 7 Unsure

h. How many inspections of municipal properties have been 

conducted in the reporting year?
39 Unsure

i. Have amendments to the SWPPPs been made?          

Yes No  Unsure
j. If yes, describe what changes have been made. Limit response to 250 characters 

and/or attach supplemental information on the attachment page: 



k. Brief explanation on Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan reporting. If you marked 

Unsure for any questions above, justify the reasoning.  Limit response to 250 

characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

DPW provides inspection for Facilities sites, including their main Operations building 

and Reid Golf Course Maintenance Area. Fire and Utilities Departments perform their 

own inspections.  

Collection Services - Street Sweeping / Cleaning Program  Not Applicable

l. Did the municipality conduct street sweeping/cleaning during the reporting year?

Yes  No Unsure

m. If known, how many tons of material was removed? 761 Unsure

n. Does the municipality have a low hazard exemption for this 

material?  

Yes No

o. If street cleaning is identified as a storm water best management practice in the 

pollutant loading analysis, was street cleaning completed at the assumed frequency?

Yes - Explain frequency 3 wks, 6 wks if pond, arterial collector 2 wks

No - Explain

Not Applicable

Collection Services - Catch Basin Sump Cleaning Program  Not Applicable

p. Did the municipality conduct catch basin sump cleaning during the reporting 

year? Yes  No Unsure

q. How many catch basin sumps were cleaned in the reporting year? 38 Unsure

r. If known, how many tons of material was collected? 95 Unsure

s. Does the municipality have a low hazard exemption for this 

material? 

Yes No 

t. If catch basin sump cleaning is identified as a storm water best management practice 

in the pollutant loading analysis, was cleaning completed at the assumed frequency?

Yes- Explain frequency 

No - Explain  only clean as needed per depth

Not Applicable

Collection Services - Leaf Collection Program  Not Applicable

u. Does the municipality conduct curbside leaf collection? Yes  No Unsure

v. Does the municipality notify homeowners about pickup? Yes  No Unsure

w. Where are the residents directed to store the leaves for collection?

Pile on terrace  Pile in street  Bags on terrace  Unsure

Other - Describe  

x.



What is the frequency of collection? 

4 rounds, every 2 wks

y. Is collection followed by street sweeping/cleaning? Yes  No Unsure

z. Brief explanation on Collection Services reporting. If you 

marked Unsure for any questions above, justify the 

reasoning.  Limit response to 250 characters and/or attach 

supplemental information on the attachments page

*Note: We are requesting information that goes beyond the reporting year, answer the best you can.

       Liquids (gallons) (ex. brine)

Winter Road Management  Not Applicable

aa. How many lane-miles of roadway is the municipality 

responsible for doing snow and ice control?
Unsure703

ab. Provide amount of de-icing products used by month last winter season?

Solids (tons) (ex. sand, or salt-sand)

Product Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Salt 2 2 395 507 1209 76

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Brine 0 0 11569 4567 16591 14910

Pre-wetting compound 0 0 0 0 450 0

ac. Was salt applying machinery calibrated in the reporting 

year?

Yes  No Unsure

ad. Have municipal personnel attended salt reduction strategy 

training in the reporting year?

Yes  No Unsure

Training Date Training Name # Attendance

ae. Brief explanation on Winter Road Management reporting. If you marked Unsure for any 

questions above, justify the reasoning.  Limit response to 250 characters and/or attach 

supplemental information on the attachments page

Salt use on downward trend.

Internal (Staff) Education & Communication

af. Has training or education been held for municipal or other 

personnel involved in implementing each of the pollution 

prevention program elements ?

Yes  No Unsure

If yes, describe what training was provided  (250 character limit):

components of MS4 permit, department/division role in meeting permit requirements, 

individual responsibilities, spill response

When:  

 How many attended:  

October-November 2021

60

ag. Describe how the municipality has kept the following local officials and municipal 



Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Minimum Control Measures - Section 7 : 

staff aware of the municipal storm water discharge permit programs and its 

requirements. 

Elected Officials

Municipal Officials

Appropriate Staff ( such as operators, Department heads, and those that interact 

with public)

Presentations to Utilities Committee as needed throughout the year. 

Same as elected officials. 

Monthly staff and workgroup meetings. 

ah. Brief explanation on Internal Education reporting.  If you marked Unsure for any 

questions above, justify the reasoning. Limit response to 250 characters and/or 

attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Missing Information

Note: For the minimum control measures, you must fill out all questions in sections 1 through 7

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

7. Storm Sewer System Map

a. Did the municipality update their storm sewer map this year?

Yes No Unsure

If yes, check the areas the map items that got updated or changed:

 Storm water treatment facilities

 Storm pipes

 Vegetated swales

 Outfalls

 Other - Describe below

b. Brief explanation on Storm Sewer System Map reporting. If you marked Unsure for an 

question for any questions above, justify the reasoning. Limit response to 

250  characters and/or attach supplemental information on the attachments page.

Map updates include information from 2020 that was delayed due to Covid staffing limitations. See 

attached list of changes per map. 



Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Final Evaluation -

Fiscal Analysis

Complete the fiscal analysis table provided below. For municipalities that do not break out funding 

into permit program elements, please enter the monetary amount to your best estimate of what 

funding may be going towards these programs.

Element:  Public Education and Outreach

Element:  Public Involvement and Participation

Element:  Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination 

Element:  Construction Site Pollutant Control 

Element:   Post-Construction Storm Water Management

Element:   Pollution Prevention

Please provide a justification for a "0" entered in the Fiscal Analysis. Limit response to 250 characters.

Water Quality

a: Were there any known water quality improvements in the receiving waters to which the 

Missing Information

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete

Annual 

Expenditure
Reporting Year

Budget
Reporting Year

Budget
Upcoming 

Year

Source of Funds

9,429 8,000 8,000 Storm water utility

2,533 5,000 5,000 Storm water utility

14,910 21,500 20,000 Storm water utility

105,683 122,085 108,850 Storm water utility

121,747 85,000 100,000 Storm water utility

1,345,735 1,505,397 1,564,840 Storm water utility

Other (describe)

Mapping, annual report preparation and DNR fee

14,000 12,600 12,600 Storm water utility



municipality’s storm sewer system directly discharges to?   

Yes  No Unsure          If Yes, explain below:

b : Were there any known water quality degradation in the receiving waters to which the 

municipality’s storm sewer system directly discharges to?

Yes  No Unsure          If Yes, explain below:

c: Have any of the receiving waters that the municipality discharges to been added to the impaired 

waters list during the reporting year?

Yes No  Unsure

d: Has the municipality evaluated their storm water practices to reduce the pollutants of concern?

Yes  No  Unsure

Storm Water Quality Management

a. Has the municipality completed or updated modeling in the reporting year (relating to developed 

urban area performance standards of s. NR 151.13(2)(b)1., Wis. Adm. Code)?  Yes    No 

b. If yes, enter percent reduction in the annual average mass discharging from the entire MS4 to 

surface waters of the state as compared to implementing no storm water management controls:

    Total suspended solids (TSS)  

    Total phosphorus (TP) 

Status of Total Maximum Daily Loads (TMDLs) Implementation

The permittee Appleton City is subject to the following approved TMDLs: Lower Fox River Basin and 

Lower Green Bay; Upper Fox and Wolf River Basin

The permittee intends to comply with the following permit requirements to show progress towards 

meeting the TMDL:

[A.3.1] The Permittee is following the TMDL Compliance Plan, which received department concurrence 

prior to April 30, 2019.

The permittee is confirming that all planned efforts are on schedule.

Agree Disagree

[A.6.3] Final Documentation.

The permittee is confirming that all planned efforts are on schedule to submit the final documentation 

materials [updates to mapping, modeling, tabular summary, and Implementation Plan] under section A.6.3 

by October 31, 2023. 

Agree Disagree

[C.3-4] The Permittee is confirming that all planned efforts are on schedule to meet requirements due to 

the department.

� For an Adaptive Management project, a plan is required within 36 months of the TMDL approval date. 



Additional Information

Based on the municipality’s storm water program evaluation, describe any proposed changes to the 

municipality’s storm water program. If your response exceeds the 250 character limit, attach 

supplemental information on the attachments page.

� For TMDL Implementation, updates to mapping, modeling, tabular summary, and Implementation 

Plan documents are required within 48 months of the TMDL approval date.)

Agree Disagree

A one year extension received for DNR Grant for update to Citywide SWMP.



Form 3400-224 (R8/2021)

Requests for Assistance on Understanding Permit Programs

Would the municipality like the Department to contact them about providing more information on 

understanding any of the Municipal Separate Storm Sewer Permit programs? 

Please select all that apply:

Public Education and Outreach 

Public Involvement and Participation

Illicit Discharge Detection and Elimination

Construction Site Pollutant Control

Post-Construction Storm Water Management

Pollution Prevention

Storm Water Quality Management

Storm Sewer System Map

Water Quality Concerns

Compliance Schedule Items Due

MS4 Program Evaluation

Missing Information

Do not close your work until you SAVE.



Form 3400-224(R8/2021)

Required Attachments and Supplemental Information 

Upload Required Attachments (15 MB per file limit) - Help reduce file size and trouble shoot file uploads

*Required Item

Note: To replace an existing file, use the 'Click here to attach file ' link or press the to delete an item.

Storm Sewer System Map

Attach - Other Supporting Documents

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Any other MS4 program information for inclusion in the Annual Report may be attached on here. Use 

the Add Additional Attachments to add multiple documents.

File Attachment

AR_IDDE

File Attachment
_AppletonSummaryReport2021_Full.pdf

AR_IP

File Attachment
2021PublicParticipationcompletedactivities.pdf

AR_SWMap

File Attachment
NR216MapChangeNarrativefor2021.pdf

AR_EO

File Attachment
2021completedIEactivitiesforannualreport.pdf

AR_Other

File Attachment
PublicWorksGuideFINAL2021-2022.pdf

AR_Other

File Attachment
2021SummerCampReport.pdf

AR_SWGroupReport

File Attachment
2021NEWSCAnnualReport.pdf



(To remove items, use your cursor to hover over the attachment section. When the drop down arrow appears, select remove item)

Attach - Permit Compliance Documents

(To remove items, use your cursor to hover over the attachment section. When the drop down arrow appears, select remove item)

You must attach a Storm Sewer Map file, 

Draft and Share PDF Report with the permittee's governing body or delegated representatives. 

Press the button below to create a PDF.  The PDF will be sent to the email address associated with the WAMS ID that is signed in. After 

the annual report has been reviewed by the governing body or delegated representative, return to the MS4 eReporting System to 

submit the final report to the DNR.

Missing Information

Draft and Share PDF Report



Form 3400-224(R8/2021)

You have not completed all areas of the application.   Please return to the application and complete 

all missing items. 

Do not close your work until you SAVE.

Complete and Submit Your Application

Contact Information: Complete

Minimum Control Measures Section 1: Complete

Minimum Control Measures Section 2: Complete

Minimum Control Measures Section 3: Complete

Minimum Control Measures Section 4: Complete

Minimum Control Measures Section 5: Has Missing Items

Minimum Control Measures Section 6: Complete

Minimum Control Measures Section 7: Complete

Attachments: Has Missing Items

Final Evaluation: Complete



TOPIC TARGET AUDIENCE PLANNED ACTIVITY COMPLETED ACTIVITY
ACTIVE PASSIVE CITY NEWSC

1
2 1. Residents 2. DPW Newsletter X X Mailed June 2021
3 10.  One-on-one communication X X On going throughout the year 
4 11. NEWSC Exhibiting X X See NEWSC Report
5 6. Credit Policy Pledge Supporter X X There were 10 pledge supporter credits active during 2021
6 14. Citizens Academy Presentation X X Not held due to COVID
7 2. City staff - DPW Operations 13. Group Training X X Completed 2020 and 2021 group training with Operations and Engineering Techs
8
9 3. Businesses 10. One-on-One communication X X On-going throughout the year 

10 1
1
2 1. Residents 2. DPW Newsletter X X Mailed June 2021
3 11. NEWSC Exhibiting X X See NEWSC Report
4 3. NEWSC Posters X X NEWSC posters placed at various park pavillions and bathrooms throughout the City
5 6. Credit Policy Pledge Supporter X X There were 10 pledge supporter credits active during 2021
6
7 2.  Students 14. NEWSC school presentations X X See NEWSC Report
8
9 15. Summer Camp X X 7 of 8 sessions held (one canceled due to weather) Report attached 

10 1
1
2 1.  Residents 2.  City DPW newsletter X X Mailed June 2021
3 3. NEWSC posters X X NEWSC posters placed at various park pavillions and bathrooms throughout the City
4 6. Stormwater Credit Policy Pledge Supporter X X There were 10 pledge supporter credits active during 2021
5 11. NEWSC Exhibiting X X See NEWSC Report
6
7 2. Students 15. Summer Camp X X 7 of 8 sessions held (one canceled due to weather) Report attached 
8
9

10 1
1
2 1.  Residents 16.  River cleanup X X City sponsored at $2,500, See NEWSC Report
3
4 2.  Students 14. NEWSC school presentation X X See NEWSC Report
5 15. Summer Camp X X 7 of 8 sessions held (one canceled due to weather) Report attached 
6
7
8
9

10 1
1
2 1.  Residents 6. Stormwater Credit Policy Pledge Supporter X X There were 10 pledge supporter credits active during 2021
3 14. Citizens Academy Presentation X X Not held due to COVID
4
5
6
7
8
9

10 1

January 2022
2021 CITY OF APPLETON PUBLIC EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PLAN

MECHANISM PRIMARY LEAD

1. Promote detection and elimination of illicit discharges 
and water quality impacts associated with such 

discharges from municipal separate storm sewer system.

2. Inform and educate the public about the proper 
management of materials that may cause stormwater 

pollution from sources including automobiles, pet waste, 
household hazardous waste and household practices.

3. Promote beneficial onsite reuse of leaves and grass 
clippings and proper use  of lawn and garden fertilizers 

and pesticides.

4. Promote the management of streambanks and 
shorelines by riparian landowners to minimize erosion 

and restore and enhance the ecological value of 
waterways.

5. Promote infiltration of residential stormwater runoff 
from rooftop downspouts, driveways, and sidewalks. 



1
2 1.  Design consultants 10.  One-on-one communication X X ESC Inspector in the field throughout the year
3 SW & ESC discussed for private and DPW projects throughout year
4 2.  Contractors 12.  Pre-submittal and X X
5                 Pre-construction meetings ESC discussed at DPW pre-construction meetings
6 3. City staff
7 18.  FWWA Watershed Conference X X Sponsored and on planning committee
8 Several City staff attended conference
9 19.  Plan review X X ESC and SWM plan review verbal and written discussion

10 1
1
2 1.  Restaurants X X Not done due to COVID
3
4
5
6 1. Mailing X X Sent 19 notices out to carpet cleaners (2020 audience)
7 Staffing limitations due to Covid
8
9

10 1
1
2 1.  Owners/Developers 10.  One-on-one communication X X Discuss individual projects throughout the year
3
4 2.  Designers 10.  One-on-one communication X X Discuss individual projects during the year
5 18.  Sponsor FWWA Watershed Conference X X Sponsored and on planning committee
6
7
8
9

10 1

8 Completed topics
Passive Mechanisms Active Mechanisms
1.  Mailing 10. One-on-One communication 6 Number of topics required
2.  Newsletter 11.  NEWSC Exhibiting
3.  NEWSC Posters 12.  Meetings
4.  Website 13.  Group Training
5. Signage 14. Presentations
6. Stormwater Credit Policy Pledge Supporter 15. Summer Camp

16.  River Cleanup
Total Passive Mechanisms Used 0 17. Utilities Committee Meeting

18. Workshops/Conferences
19. Plan review

Key:
1= used during the year Total Active Mechanisms Used 0
0= not used during the year

Required Active Mechanisms 2

8. Promote environmentally sensitive land development 
designs by developers and designers, including green 

infrastructure and low impact development. 

6. Inform and educate those responsible for the design, 
installation, and maintenance of construction site 

practices and stormwater management facilities on how 
to design, install, and maintain the practices. 

7. Identify businesses and activities that may pose a 
stormwater contamination concern, and educate those 
specific audiences on methods of stormwater pollution 

prevention. 

10. One on One communication with standard 
inspections by Plumbing and Health Depts

2. Cement Finishers and Concrete 
Suppliers



January 2020

Topics
2019

Active Passive Active Passive Active Passive Active Passive Active Passive

1. IDDE 4 2 2 2 5 2

2. HHH, Pets, Vehicles, etc 3 3 2 3 3 3

3. Yard Waste, Pesticide, Ferilizer 3 3 1 3 2 3

4. Stream and Shoreline 3 0 2 0 2 0

5. Residential Infiltration 0 1 0 1 0 1

6.  ESC and Post Construction 4 0 4 0 4 0

7.  Pollution Prevention 0 1 0 0 0 1

8.  Green Infrastructure/Low Impact 3 0 3 0 3 0

Totals 20 10 14 9 19 10

City of Appleton Education and Outreach Plan 2019-2023 Summary of completed activities

Year
2020 2021 2022 2023



ACTIVITY 2021 Planned 

Annual Report Target Participants:
General Public

Due to WDNR March 31 Elected Officials
each year

Delivery Mechanism:
Committee agenda on website March 4, 2021

Utilities Committee meeting March 9, 2021
Common Council meeting March 17, 2021

Date:  March

Stormwater Management Program Target Participants:
General Public

Proposed City-wide Plan Elected Officials
Update in 2020-2021 School District

Developers
Other City Departments

Delivery Mechanism:
Committee agenda on website March 4, 2021 January 8, 2021

Utilities Committee Presentation March 9, 2021 January 12, 2021
Common Council meeting March 17, 2021 January 20, 2021
Stakeholder Presentations

Stakeholder meetings
City staff meetings

Date: throughout the year

Ordinance Updates Target Participants:
General Public

Erosion and Sediment Control Elected Officials

Design Consultants
Illicit Discharges Developers

Contractors
Post-Construction Stormwater

Management Delivery Mechanism:
Committee agenda on website No ordinance updates

Utilities Committee Presentation in 2021
Common Council meeting

Date:  As needed

Volunteer Activity Target Participants:
General Public

City Staff

Delivery Mechanism:
Sponsor FWWA Cleanup Sponsored at $2500 level
Post Sign-up for City staff Event Held May 1, 2021

Date:  Spring

Updated Illicit Discharge Program 

2021 Completed 

SECTION 2.2 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT AND PARTICIPATION

Updated Pollution Prevention Program



 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.”  

Department of Utilities  
Wastewater Treatment Plant 

2006 E Newberry Street 
Appleton, WI  54915 

920-832-5945 tel. 
920-832-5949 fax  

 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Chairperson Vered Meltzer and Members of the Utilities Committee  

   

FROM: Environmental Programs Coordinator Brian Kreski 

 

DATE: February 9, 2022 

 

RE: Approve: Sole Source Organic Recycling Contractor Services contract to Hsu 

Growing Supply for a three-year term ending December 31, 2024 in the amount 

not to exceed $247,500. 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

The Appleton Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) has operated a biosolids compost facility 

since the fall of 2010.  Since its conception, the AWWTP has successfully contracted Hsu Growing 

Supply (Hsu) for compost processing services.  Year-end 2021 marked the fifth consecutive 

contract term with Hsu.  The last Organic Recycling Contractor Services request for quote (RFQ) 

process was last completed on March 1, 2017.  At that time Hsu’s was the only firm of six with 

who was responsive to the RFQ.  Reasons provided by the non-responsive firms included the 

inability to meet necessary qualifications, the inability to be competitive based on process 

frequency and distance to mobilize equipment, and/or the services being requested were outside 

of their corporate business model.  Language was developed within the 2017-2020 Hsu contract 

that allows for an extension by mutual agreement from both parties in recognition of the 

uniqueness associated with services requested and the limited pool of firms capable of delivering 

them. 

 

The original 2017 quote tabulation is summarized in Table 1.  Firms were asked to quote on 

specific processing volumes that were established on past compost operations experience and 

potential needs arising from potential AWWTP 180-day biosolids storage limitations caused by 

the inability to conduct seasonal biosolids land application to farm fields. The Compost Program 

budget and contract award amount (over four years) was based on processing three “batches” of 

material annually for a total of 16,000 cubic yards (5,333 yards per batch). 

 

 



 

 

Table 1: Organic Recycling Contractor Services Quotes 

Note: Fuel surcharges would apply. 

 

QUOTATION: 

 

At the conclusion of the 2021 contract extension, Hsu expressed interest in extending contract 

services. On January 27, 2022, Hsu submitted a formal letter that outlined their willingness to 

extend the contract for an additional three-year term with a fee structure (see Table 2) that accounts 

for price increases associated with equipment and labor. The proposed fees would represent 

nominally a 5% increase over the previous contract. Similar to past contracts, language would exist 

in the 2022-2024 contract that allows for an extension by mutual agreement from both parties at 

the end of the contract term.  The contract award amount would be based on processing three 

batches of material (5,333 yards each) annually for a total of 16,000 cubic yards per year over the 

three-year term. 

 

Table 2: Hsu’s 2022-2024 Contract Services Quote 

Note: Fuel surcharges would apply. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Approval of sole source contract to Hsu Growing Supply for a three-year term ending December 

31, 2024 in the amount not to exceed $247,500. If you have any questions regarding this project, 

please contact Brian Kreski at 920-832-2316. 
 

 Required Quote (by quarter) Alternate Quotes 

 Compost Processing Stockpiling Screening 

Company 2,500 YD 5,000 YD 10,000 YD 3,500 YD 1,000 YD 

Hsu Growing Supply $19,125 $26,250 $42,500 $12,075 - 

Purple Cow Organics, 

LLC 
  DNQ  - 

Veolia    DNQ  - 

Soil Solutions   DNQ  - 

Synagro Technologies   DNQ  - 

Vandenberg Trucking   DNQ  - 

 Required Quote (by quarter) Alternate Quotes 

 Compost Processing Stockpiling Return 

Company 2,500 YD 5,000 YD 10,000 YD 3,500 YD Trip (turner) 

Hsu Growing Supply $20,000 $27,500 $45,000 $12,075 $2,500 



 

 
 
“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

Department of Utilities  
Wastewater Treatment Plant 

2006 E Newberry Street 
Appleton, WI  54915 

920-832-5945 tel. 
920-832-5949 fax  

 

TO:  Chairperson Vered Meltzer and Members of the Utilities Committee 

 

CC:  Utilities Director Chris Shaw  

   

FROM: Environmental Programs Coordinator Brian Kreski  

 

DATE: February 14, 2022 

 

RE: Permit transfer approval from Appvion Operations, Inc. n/k/a 

Appleseed Operations, Inc. (the Prior Owner) to Appvion, LLC (the 

New Owner) - Pretreatment Program Permit No. 21-03. 

 
 

Background: 
 

This memo serves as a formal notification and request by Appvion Operations Inc. on 

February 10, 2022 to transfer its Industrial User Permit (No. 21–03) to Appvion LLC in 

accordance with the City of Appleton’s Sewer Use Ordinance (SUO), Sec. 20-120: 
  

Sec. 20-120.  Wastewater discharge permit transfer. 

 Wastewater discharge permits may be transferred to a new owner or operator only if the permittee gives 

at least ninety (90) days advance notice to the Director of Utilities and the Director of Utilities approves 

the wastewater discharge permit transfer.  The notice to the Director of Utilities must include a written 

certification by the new owner or operator which: 

 

(1) States that the new owner and/or operator has no immediate intent to change the facility’s 

operations and processes; 

 

(2) Identifies the specific date on which the transfer is to occur; and 

 

 (3) Acknowledges full responsibility for complying with the existing wastewater discharge permit. 

 Failure to provide advance notice of a transfer renders the wastewater discharge permit void as of the 

date of the facility transfer. 

(Ord 60-94, §1, 5-4-94) 
 

Recommendation: 

The permittee submitted a transfer request on February 10, 2022 and is requesting the 

committee to waive the 90 day advanced notice and grant approval of the permit transfer.  

As stated in the formal notification letter (attachment), it is our understanding that the 

Transferee will operate the facility in the same manner as the permittee and comply with 

existing wastewater permit requirements. Accordingly, staff recommends the 90-notice 

requirement in Sec. 20-120 be waived so that the Utilities Director may more 

immediately approve the transfer.  Feel free to contact Environmental Programs 

Coordinator Brian Kreski at ph: 832-5945. 

 





 

 

      

Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 
    

MEMO 
 

TO:  Utilities Committee 

 

FROM: Paula Vandehey, Director of Public Works 

Pete Neuberger, Staff Engineer 

Paul Krause, Staff Horticulturist 

 

SUBJECT: Award of Unit K-22 Native Landscape Management Contract to RES, Inc., in an 

amount not to exceed $192,385.00 

 

DATE:  February 15, 2022 

▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬▬     

The Department of Public Works is requesting approval of the Unit K-22 Native Landscape 

Management Contract to RES, Inc., in an amount not to exceed $192,385. The 2022 combined capital 

and maintenance native landscaping budget is $215,201. 

 

CONTRACT SCOPE 

The Department of Public Works maintains an inventory of 77 stormwater ponds and biofilters, along 

with several miles of drainage channels that have native landscaping. The proposed maintenance 

activities included in this contract are mowing, cutting, controlled burns, invasive species and algae 

control, and adding vegetation to sparsely established and eroding areas at stormwater practices 

operated by both DPW and Facilities. Proposed new installation activities include preparation, seeding 

and planting in emergent, shoreline, and upland zones on new stormwater facilities. 

 

PROPOSAL SCORING 

In January 2022 the Department of Public Works issued a Request for Proposals (RFP) from three 

firms with significant native landscape management experience in Wisconsin. Three proposals were 

received. The review team initially evaluated each proposal based on the following Technical Scoring 

criteria: 

Technical Scoring (100 Total Possible Points): 

A. Relevant Experience of Firm (Max 35 Points) 

B. Project Team Members (Max 20 Points) 

C. Project Understanding and Approach (Max 35 Points) 

D. Project Schedule (Max 15 Points) 

 

The RFP also encouraged respondents to offer alternative approaches and prices to proposed tasks. 

Where appropriate, incorporated select alternative tasks and prices into the evaluations to maximize 

cost-effectiveness.  



 

 

 

K-22 Native Landscape Management 

February 15, 2022 

-Page 2- 

 

After technical scoring was completed, the review team calculated the Overall Score for each proposal 

by taking the total bid price of each firm’s Cost Proposal and dividing it by its respective Technical 

Score: 

 

Overall Score (Price Per Point) = Cost Proposal ÷ Technical Score 

 

     Technical Cost  Price Per 

Rank Firm     Score  Proposal Point   

1.  RES    97.5  $172,052 $1,765 

2.  NES    96.0  $171,414 $1,786 

3.  Merjent   80.0  $169,973 $2,125 

 

As indicated above, RES submitted the highest ranked proposal with the best Price Per Point and is 

therefore DPW staff’s recommendation for K-22 contracted services. RES (also dba Applied 

Ecological Services) has served as DPW’s Native Landscape Management Contractor since 2006 and 

has repeatedly demonstrated the ability to successfully and cost effectively meet DPW’s performance 

goals. DPW staff were also impressed with the ability of NES to provide a competitive proposal, 

considering the RES ability to leverage its vast experience and understanding gained while maintaining 

City of Appleton sites over the years. 

 

Since 2012, DPW’s practice has been to issue Unit K RFP’s every five years, awarding the first year’s 

contract based on the competitive proposal and with annual contracts for the subsequent four years 

being negotiated using single-source contracts with the same contractor, subject to staff 

recommendation and approvals by Utilities Committee and Council each year. 

 

For 2023 through 2026, DPW staff are interested in using the same approach. If DPW staff determine 

that RES has delivered excellent, cost-effective customer service, and determine it is in the City’s best 

interest, then staff anticipate negotiating a single-source contract for Unit K with RES for each year, 

subject to committee and council approvals at the appropriate times.  

 

 



Department of Public Works – Engineering Division 
    

MEMO 
 

 

 

TO:  Utilities Committee 

 

FROM: Paula Vandehey, Director of Public Works 

  Pete Neuberger, Staff Engineer 

   

DATE: February 15, 2022 

 

RE: Award of Single Source Contract with NES Ecological Services for 2022 Wetland 

Delineation Services in an Amount Not to Exceed $20,137.00. 

_______________________________________________________________________________  

 

The Department of Public Works is requesting approval to single source contract with NES Ecological 

Services, a Division of Robert E Lee & Associates, Inc. (NES) for 2022 Wetland Delineations in an 

amount not to exceed $20,137.00.  

CURRENT AUTHORIZATION 

In February 2019, DPW issued a request for proposals (RFP) for Wetland Delineation Consulting 

Services. After evaluating the proposals, DPW recommended contract award to NES at the March 12, 

2019, Utilities Committee. The committee authorized DPW to contract with NES for 2019 Wetland 

Delineations, in an amount not to exceed $30,000. The award memo stated DPW anticipated a multi-

year contract extension through 2023, subject to Utilities Committee authorization each year and 

satisfactory performance by the consultant. In 2020 and 2021 Utilities Committee and Council 

approved prior requests for single-source contract awards with NES for wetlands delineation services. 

REASON FOR REQUEST 

The request is made for the following reasons: 

• Throughout 2019 through 2021, NES has strongly validated the results of the initial RFP 

evaluation by cost-effectively providing a very high level of expertise and customer service. 

Furthermore, because the primary staff person at NES is a WDNR Assured Wetland 

Delineator, the results of their work do not require a WDNR review and concurrence process. 

Avoiding this additional step has proved valuable for keeping projects on schedule and 

avoiding uncertainty.  

• The 2019 proposal from NES identified a suggested annual labor and equipment unit price 

increase of approximately 3% each year throughout the anticipated 5-year period. The 2022 

proposal includes unit prices reflecting an average unit price increase of approximately 3.5% 

since 2019. DPW staff consider the request reasonable for providing continued cost-effective 

services. 

 

 

 

 



2022 Wetland Delineation Services  

February 15, 2022 

-Page 2- 

CONTRACT SCOPE 

As DPW and other departments implement their 5-year CIP, they must occasionally investigate 

potential wetlands to remain compliant with State and Federal wetland regulations. For 2022, several 

project sites have been identified. Cost estimate and responsible department are identified in the 

project list below: 

 

• Miscellaneous Stormwater Management Allowance (Public Works - $11,000) 

• Glacier Ridge Gravity Sewer Delineation Work (Public Works - $4,487) 

• Raw Water Line Supplemental Delineation/Permit Work (Public Works - $4,650) 

 

 

DPW staff also anticipate contracting with NES for 2023 wetlands delineations, subject to Utilities 

Committee and Common Council approval at the appropriate times. 


	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_February 8, 2022 Utilities Committee Meeting Minutes
	0002_1_2022 Ordinance changes to UC combined
	2022 Post Construction Ord Update Util Memo
	Department of Public Works – Engineering Division
	MEMO

	OrdinanceComparison
	Art VI - Stormwater - REDLINED - 02-08-2022

	0003_1_2021 MS4 Annual Report to UC_
	DRAFT MS4 report Feb 4 2022
	2021 completed I & E activities for annual report
	2021
	Summary

	2021 Public Participation completed activities
	2.2 Public Participation


	0004_1_220209_UCM_Hsu_contract 2022-24
	0005_1_220214_memo action item Permit transfer Letter
	0005_2_Transfer of Industrial User Wastewater Discharge Permit Letter
	0006_1_K-22 Contract Award Util Memo 02-15-2022 Final
	0007_1_2022C Wetland Delineations Contract Award Memo Util Cmte 02-15-2022 Final

